
Note: Council will take a five-minute recess at 8:00 p.m. 

      HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL 

 HAMPDEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

   AGENDA 

MONDAY     FEBRUARY 1, 2021  6:00 P.M. 

A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

C. CONSENT AGENDA

1. SIGNATURES

2. COUNCIL MINUTES

a. None

3. COMMUNICATIONS

a. Renewal Victualer’s License – Angelo’s
b. Renewal Victualer’s License – Subway
c. MRC Newsletter

4. COMMITTEE MINUTES

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS

E. POLICY AGENDA

1. NEWS, PRESENTATIONS & AWARDS

2. PUBLIC HEARINGS

a. Consideration of Proposed repeal and replacement of the Hampden
Subdivision Ordinance.- continued from January 19th, 2021

b. Reconsideration of Proposed Amendment to the Hampden Fees Ordinance –
requested by Councilor Cubberley

3. NOMINATIONS – APPOINTMENTS – ELECTIONS

a. Reappointment of Eugene Weldon to the Planning Board for a five year term

b. Appointment of Ryan Bickford to the Planning Board for a five year term

F. COMMITTEE REPORTS

G. UNFINISHED BUSINESS



MONDAY FEBRUARY 1, 2021     6:00 P.M. 
      AGENDA 

Note: Council will take a five-minute recess at 8:00 p.m. 

H. NEW BUSINESS

a. Council consideration on accepting a private fire hydrant located at the Oak Knoll Condo 
subdivision into the Town’s inventory – requested by Donald Ouellette,
President of Oak Grove Condo Homeowner’s Association

b. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance
of 2021 taxes in the amount of $6,623,896.31, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry 
Murray from further obligation for collection -  pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763

c. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance
of 2020 taxes in the amount of $12,953.78, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry 
Murray from further obligation for collection -  pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763

d. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2019 
taxes in the amount of $3,621.41, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

e. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2019 
taxes in the amount of $3,776.60, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

f. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2017 
taxes in the amount of $4,997.14, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

g. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2016 
taxes in the amount of $4,194.75, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

h. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2015 
taxes in the amount of $2,457.00, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

i. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2014 
taxes in the amount of $1,087.24 discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

j. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2013 
taxes in the amount of $806.13, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

k. Council approval of the Certificate of Settlement reflecting the remaining balance of 2012 
taxes in the amount of $806.13, discharging former Tax Collector Sherry Murray from 
further obligation for collection – pursuant to 36 MRSA Section 763.

l. Council discussion on adhering to the Governor’s Executive Order regarding masks at the 
Transfer Station (public property)



MONDAY     FEBRUARY 1, 2021                          6:00 P.M. 
           AGENDA 
 

Note: Council will take a five-minute recess at 8:00 p.m.  

I. MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
J         COUNCILOR’S COMMENTS   
 
L.         ADJOURNMENT    
 
 
 



FOR THOSE THAT WISH TO PARTICIPATE IN THE 

REMOTE HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

ON FEBRUARY 1ST, 2021, AT 6:00 PM YOU MAY 

PtiONE IN USING THE FOLLOWING NUMBER 

(FOLLOWED BY THE PIN#) 

OR-

FROM A LAPTOP OR A DESKTOP, YOU MAY GO 

TO THIS URL:meet.google.com/vpn-kxmg-irr 

AND JOIN I US THAT WAY 

INSTRUCTIONS ARE POSTED WITH THE AGENDA 

AND SEPARATELY ON THE TOWN CALENDAR AT 

WWW.HAMPDEN MAINE.GOV 

1-352-462-2624 PIN 516 033 800#



__ '1-MIU: 
NEWSLETTER 
MunicipalReviewCommittee i 20GodfreyDr.,Ste213 I Orono.ME04473 I www.MRCMaine.org 

ISSUE 21.1 I January 2021

MOU Signed with 
Potential Buyer 
Introduction to Members at Virtual Town Hall on January 19 

As discussed at our annual meeting on December 16, the MRC 
continues to make progress in negotiations with stakeholders. including 
a prospective buyer, regarding the sale of the Coastal Resources plant. 
At the Virtual Town Hall on Tuesday, January 19 we were pleased to 
introduce the buyer to our members. The Town Hall recording and 
PowerPoint is available on our website and social media sites. 

At its special board meeting on 
December 29, 2020, the MRC Board 1 ' 

\ voted to authorize the execution of a 1 _ 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) \ 11 
as a next step in this process. This is .;.,_....,._..., 

an important milestone to reach as MRC 
works with stakeholders to re-open the 
plant and resume operations. The MOU 
on the potential sale is not a binding 

NRC 

document but part of ongoing and active negotiations. As this process

progresses, and before any closing and MRC authorization of binding 
agreements on the potential sale of the plant. MRC will be conducting an 
open meeting to inform all MRC members and interested members of the 
public of the details of a proposed deal. 

With an MOU in place , MRC and other stakeholders will advance 
negotiations by focusing on detailed terms and cond1t1ons of a sale. 

Continued on next page ... 

UPCOMING 

MEETINGS 

Regular Board Meetings Schedule 

for 2021 

January 27 

Finance Committee: 9 AM 

Board Meeting: 10 AM 

Virtual 

April 28

Finance Committee: 9 AM

Board Meeting: 10 AM 

Locdr.:ur;: T/:JU 

July 28 

Finance Committee: 9 AM 

Board Meeting: 10 AM

L O[ilf,ni;: 713[) 

October 27 

Finance Committee: 9 AM

Board Meeting: 10 AM 

Loc,.;r;o,;· fllD 

Q. 
ca 
u 
G) 

1')0ct 2019 
Facility passes 
Performance Test 
with conditions f'>Mar 2020 

Pandemic hits 

1')June 2020 
Bypass notice 
issued and MRC 
works with DEP to 
secure permit 

OSept 2020 
Bondholders have 
court put Facility in 
receivership 

1')Nov 2020 
Receivership ends, 
negotiations with 
purchasers continue 

0 
N 
0 
N 

More capital 
needed to address & markets react 

MRC provides 
interim loan until 
bridge loan closes 

1JFeb 2020 

Bridge loan falls 
through 
Coastal suspends 
operations 

uMay 2020 

1 

Receiver manages 
Facility and solicits 
purchasers 

Bypass MSW goes to 
Crossroads LF and PERC 

Winterization 
process begins 

3 purchasers 
submit refined 
letters of interest 7 letters of interest 

received to purchase 1.)0Ct 2020 
the Fac1hty 

1JJuly 2020 

C-3-a



Welcome Melissa Doane! 
Melissa Doane, longtime Bradley Town Manager and a familiar face at MRC 

Board of Directors meetings, has joined the Board for a three-year term. 

Melissa has closely monitored MSW disposal in our region and will be an 

advocate for all our members to ensure the affordable and environmental 

sound disposal of MSW in the long-term. Please join us in welcoming Melissa 

to the Board. And many thanks to Town of Millinocket Public Works Director 

Ralph Soucier, who opted to not stand for reelection, for his many years of 

service on the Board! 

Annual CPI Adjustment 
The Consumer Price Index published by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) announced the CPI value 

on December 10, which is used for the escalation of the Tipping Fee for calendar year 2021. The values are 

archived on the BLS website. 

Under the Master Waste Supply Agreement section 5.1(i) the Tipping Fee is subject to adjustment each 

January 1. The tipping rate increase is as follows: 

Tip fee m 2021 for Joining Members that were Charter Municipalities: $72.28 

Tip Fee in 2021 for Joining Members that were not Charter Municipalities: $74.49 

•••••••••••••••••••••••• 

2021 Goals 

Membership 
survey 

ABOUT THE MRC 

WOrltwlth 
new buyer 

bulky waste Vendors paid 
and 

undesirables 

Tl1e l'vlur1icipal Review Committee (MRC) is c1 11011-prof1t assorn1tio11 or 

Maine commu111ties led by an elected. volunteer board of directors. 115 

mernl)ers l1ave Joined togethe1· to ensure the affordable. environmentally 

sound disposal of MSW 111 the long-term and send tl1eir MSW to the Coastal 

Resources facility in Hampden for processing. 

Visit www.rnrcma1nc.org or contact Mike Carroll at 207-664-1700 or 

execdirector@mrcrnaine.org to learn more about the Municipal Review 

Com1111ttee and to add your name to our email contact 11st. 

2 

• ••

Continued from front page ... 

We were pleased to be able to 

provide a forum for members to learn 

more about the buyer at the town hall 

meeting. 

MRC will continue to update its 

members on this progress and an 

anticipated closing date during the 

first quarter of 2021, along with more 

particulars once a final deal is reached 

and more information can be provided. 

We appreciate our Members· support 

and patience through this process 

and look forward to a plant reopening. 

ARE YOU 

ON SOCIAL 

MEDIA? 

MRC regularly sends updates and 

annooocements by email to those wtio halle 

signed up for our alerts. we have active 
Facebook and Twitter accounts where we share 

articles and post aboUt ewnts and interact 

with members. Make sure to "like" or follow 

us through your town's accounts tool Al9o, 
_.,. OIi YouTubel You can watch our last two 
Virtual Town Hal Meetings on our YouTube 

channel (Municipal Review Committee) Please 

subscribe and hit that notifieation bell so that 

you don't miss any of our uploads! 



Subdivision Ordinance 

Hampden Maine 

Effective _____, 2021 
106 Western Ave. 

Hampden, Maine 04444 

www.hampdenmaine.gov 

E-2-a



i 

 

Hampden Subdivision Ordinance – Table of Contents 

Article 1: General Provisions ................................................................................................................................1 

1.1 Purpose 

1.2 Authority 

1.3 Title 

1.4 Administration 

1.5 Applicability 

1.6 Effective Date 

1.7 Repeal of Prior Ordinance 

1.8 Severability 

1.9 Relationship to Other Ordinances or Laws 

1.10 Scope 

1.11 Amendments 

Article 2: Design Standards ..................................................................................................................................3 

2.1 Subdivision Layout ....................................................................................................................3 

2.1.1 Buffer  

2.1.2 Road length and access points 

2.1.3 Lots 

2.1.3.1 Relation to zoning 

2.1.3.2 Buildable area 

2.1.3.3 Non-buildable lots 

2.1.3.4 Reserved areas 

2.1.3.5 Layout 

2.1.4 Monuments  

2.2 Relation to Natural Features ..................................................................................................5 

2.2.1 Prevention of Erosion and Sedimentation  

2.2.2 Natural Beauty and Aesthetics 

2.2.3 Historic or Archeological Resources 

2.2.4 Significant Wildlife Habitat 

2.2.5 Public Access to the Shoreline 

2.2.6 Topography 

2.3 Infrastructure ..............................................................................................................................7 

2.3.1 Electric and Communication Utilities .......................................................................7 

2.3.2 Water Supply ............................................................................................................7 

2.3.1.1 Public Water Supply 

2.3.1.2 Private Water Supply 

2.3.3 Sewage Disposal .......................................................................................................9 

2.3.3.1 Public Sewer 

2.3.3.2 Private Sewage Disposal 

2.3.4 Stormwater Management ........................................................................................11 

2.3.5 Solid Waste ................................................................................................................12 

2.3.6 Streets and Sidewalks  .............................................................................................12 

2.3.6.1 Street Layout 

2.3.6.2 State Permits 



ii 

 

2.3.6.3 Roadway Design Standards 

2.3.6.4 Street Names and Signage 

2.3.6.5 Street Lighting and Street Trees 

  

Article 3: Procedures .............................................................................................................................................18 

3.1 General Procedure ...................................................................................................................18 

 3.1.1 Sketch Plan for All Subdivisions 

 3.1.2 Town Planner to Make Determination of Type 

3.2 Minor Subdivisions ....................................................................................................................18 

3.2.1 Application 

3.2.2 Planning Board Action  

3.3  Major Subdivisions ....................................................................................................................19 

3.3.1 Sketch Plan 

3.3.2 Preliminary Plan 

3.3.3 Final Approval, Recording Plan 

3.4 Amendments to An Approved Subdivision Plan ..................................................................21 

3.5 Appeals ......................................................................................................................................22 

3.6 Improvement Guarantee .........................................................................................................22 

 3.6.1 Types of Guarantees  

 3.6.2 Amount and Content 

 3.6.3 Duration  

3.6.4 Building Permits  

 3.6.5 Phased Construction 

 3.6.6 Release of Guarantee 

3.6.7 Default 

3.7 Construction  ...............................................................................................................................23 

3.7.1 Pre-construction Meeting 

3.7.2 Requirements Prior to Construction 

3.7.3 Permitted Construction Times 

3.7.4 Debris and Trash 

3.7.5 Stockpiling 

3.7.6 Inspections 

3.7.7 Field Changes 

3.7.8 Damage 

3.7.9 Maintenance Responsibility 

3.7.10 Time For Completion of Improvements 

3.7.11 End of Construction Season 

3.7.12 As-Built Survey  

3.7.13 Final Disposition  

3.8 Submission Requirements .........................................................................................................27 

3.8.1 Sketch Plan ..................................................................................................................27 

3.8.2 Recording Plan (maybe put this last) .....................................................................28 

3.8.3 Minor Subdivision Plan ..............................................................................................29 

3.8.4 Major Subdivision Preliminary Plan .......................................................................30 

 

 



iii 

 

Article 4: Approval Criteria  ................................................................................................................................35 

4.1 Pollution 

4.2 Sufficient Water 

4.3 Municipal Water Supply 

4.4 Erosion 

4.5 Traffic 

4.6 Sewage Disposal 

4.7 Municipal Solid Waste Disposal 

4.8 Aesthetic, Cultural, and Natural Values 

4.9 Conformity With Local Ordinances and Plans 

4.10 Financial and Technical Capacity 

4.11 Surface Waters and Outstanding River Segments 

4.12 Ground Water 

4.13 Flood Areas 

4.14 Freshwater Wetlands 

4.15 Farmland 

4.16 River, Stream, or Brook 

4.17 Stormwater 

4.18 Spaghetti Lots Prohibited 

4.19 Lake Phosphorus Concentration 

4.20 Impact on Adjoining Municipality 

4.21 Lands Subject to Liquidation Harvesting 

4.22 Private Streets 

 

Article 5: Waivers ..................................................................................................................................................39 

 5.1 Waiver Request 

 5.2 Waiver from Design Standards 

 5.3 Waiver from Submission Requirements 

 5.4 Waivers Recorded 

Article 6: Enforcement ............................................................................................................................................40 

Article 7: Definitions ...............................................................................................................................................41 

 

Appendix A: Road Cross Sections .......................................................................................................................43 

Appendix B: What Constitutes a Subdivision ....................................................................................................44 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 1 

Article 1: General Provisions 

1.1 Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to assure the comfort, convenience, safety, health, and 

welfare of the people, to protect the environment, to promote the development of an economically 

sound and stable community, to ensure new subdivisions have adequate infrastructure and do not 

place an undue burden on municipal facilities, to ensure lots in new subdivisions are capable of 

supporting the proposed uses and structures, and to minimize potential negative impacts of 

proposed subdivisions on neighboring properties.  

1.2 Authority. This ordinance has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Title 30-A MRSA 

§4403.  

1.3 Title. This ordinance is known and may be cited as the Subdivision Ordinance of the Town of 

Hampden Maine. 

1.4 Administration. This ordinance is to be administered by the Hampden Planning Board with 

assistance from town staff. 

1.5 Applicability. The provisions of this ordinance apply to all land and buildings proposed for 

subdivision as herein defined. Subdivisions which existed, which were approved by the Planning 

Board, or which were legally recorded at the Penobscot County Registry of Deeds prior to 

September 23, 1971, are not subject to this ordinance, but any new divisions as herein defined 

within such subdivisions are subject to this ordinance. 

1.6 Effective Date. The effective date of this ordinance is ______ [fill in date upon adoption].  

1.7 Repeal of Prior Ordinance. Upon the effective date of this ordinance following adoption of this 

ordinance, any prior Subdivision Ordinance including all amendments thereto is repealed.  

1.8 Severability. Should any section or provision of this ordinance be declared by the courts to be 

invalid, such section or provision does not invalidate any other section or provision of this 

ordinance, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be severable. 

1.9 Relationship to Other Ordinances or Laws. This Ordinance in no way impairs or removes the 

necessity of compliance with any other ordinance, rule, regulation, bylaw, permit, or provision of 

law. Where this ordinance imposes a higher standard for the protection and promotion of health 

and safety, the provisions of this ordinance prevail.  

1.10 Scope.  

1.10.1 Any person, firm, corporation or other legal entity proposing to sell, lease or convey, or to 

offer or agree to sell, lease or convey, any land in a subdivision any portion of which is 

within the limits of the Town of Hampden, must first submit such subdivision for approval by 

the Planning Board in accordance with this Ordinance and must record in the Penobscot 

County Registry of Deeds a plan thereof bearing the approval of the Planning Board. 

1.10.2 No utility installations; no ditching, grading or construction of roads; no grading of land or 

lots; and no construction of buildings is to be done on any part of the proposed subdivision 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 2 

until a subdivision application has been submitted, reviewed, approved, and recorded as 

provided by this Ordinance. 

1.10.3 No person, firm, corporation or other legal entity may sell or convey any land in a 

subdivision until the street upon which it fronts is completed in accordance with this 

ordinance, and at least one permanent boundary marker is set at one corner of the lot 

being sold or conveyed. See also §2.1.4, Monuments. 

 

1.11 Amendments.  

1.11.1 An amendment to this ordinance may be initiated by the Planning Board provided a 

majority of the Board has so voted, or by the Town Council provided a majority of the 

Council has voted to refer a proposed amendment to the Planning Board, or by written 

petition of ten percent of the registered voters of the town. All proposed amendments must 

be referred to the Planning Board for their review and recommendation. 

1.11.2 The Planning Board must hold a public hearing prior to the adoption of any amendment to 

this ordinance, with notice of the hearing provided at least seven days prior to the 

hearing. 

1.11.3 The Planning Board must submit a recommendation on any proposed amendment to this 

ordinance to the Town Council within 14 days of the completion of the public hearing and, 

when the proposed amendment was referred to the planning board from town council, 

within 90 days of  the date of said referral unless Council agrees to an extension for 

good cause. The Planning Board’s recommendation may be for approval, approval with 

modification, or denial of the proposed amendment.  To constitute Planning Board 

approval the proposed amendment and any proposed modifications thereto must receive 

at least four affirmative votes from the Board.  Failure of the Board to make a 

recommendation within the allotted time constitutes a recommendation of denial for the 

purposes of this Ordinance. 

1.11.4 For a proposed amendment to be adopted, it must be approved by a majority vote of 

the Town Council if the change has been recommended by the Planning Board.  If the 

change has not been recommended by the Planning Board, a two-thirds vote of the Town 

Council is necessary to adopt it. 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 3 

Article 2: Design Standards 

2.1 Subdivision Layout 

2.1.1 Buffer. The Planning Board may require a buffer of no less than 25 feet deep when a 

proposed major subdivision is located adjacent to a use where separation is desirable, or 

in a rural area where a wooded buffer between an existing road and the proposed 

house lots would maintain the rural character of the area. Buffers must not be part of any 

individual house lot. Driveways and new roads may cross through the buffer strip.  

2.1.2 Road length. The maximum length of any road segment where there is only a single point 

of entry from a connecting road is 2,000 feet, measured from the centerline of the 

connecting road to the furthest point of that road – a cul-de-sac or other turn-around, or 

on a loop road. 

2.1.3 Lots 

2.1.3.1 Relation to zoning. Lots for building purposes must be in compliance with the 

dimensional requirements of the Hampden Zoning Ordinance. 

2.1.3.2 Buildable Area. All new lots created in the town after ____[effective date]___ 

must contain a minimum net useable area, which is to be contiguous land (not 

divided by a stream, waterbody, or road), of: 

1. 20,000 square feet if the lot relies on an individual on-site sewage disposal 

system, or 10,000 square feet if the lot has access to the public sewer 

system. 

2. This provision does not apply to lots created for open space provided the 

lot has a permanent restriction prohibiting development. 

3. This provision is not to be interpreted as an increase or decrease in the 

minimum lot size required by the zoning ordinance, nor a decrease in the 

number of dwelling units which can be developed on a given tract of land.  

2.1.3.3 Non-buildable Lots. Lots reserved for and permanently protected as open 

space or recreational lands are not required to meet the dimensional 

requirements of the zoning ordinance, but must be clearly marked on the final 

subdivision plan as “non-buildable parcels”. The deed for such lots must also 

include restrictions prohibiting development.  

2.1.3.4 Reserved Areas. Land areas reserved for future development (e.g. “remaining 

land”) must comply with the dimensional requirements of the zoning ordinance, 

even if the intent is to construct new roads to service future development. 

 

 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 4 

2.1.3.5 Layout.  

1. The proposed subdivision and street layout must conform as closely as 

practical to the adopted Comprehensive Plan or policy statement of the 

Town of Hampden. 

2. Sidelines. Wherever possible, side lot lines should be perpendicular to the 

street. The Planning Board may approve other lot layouts when the 

alternative design will protect natural physical features such as wetlands or 

drainage ways.  

3. Corner Lots. Corner lots should generally be larger than other lots to 

accommodate building setbacks on each street side.  

4. Shape. Flag lots or other oddly shaped lots with narrow portions connecting 

a wider frontage to a wider portion in the rear are only permitted if they 

meet the requirements of Section 4.3 of the Zoning Ordinance, Rural 

Alternate Frontage Lots. Lots within the shoreland zone are subject to 

additional provisions under the Shoreland Zoning Ordinance.  

5. Re-subdivision. The subdivision of tracts into lots with more than twice the 

required minimum lot size and frontage, thus creating the potential for 

future re-subdivision of lots, is discouraged. When such re-subdivision occurs, 

then regardless of the amount of time that has passed since the lot was 

created, a revised subdivision plan must be approved by the Planning 

Board and recorded in the Registry of Deeds.  

6. Frontage. Every lot designated for development must have the frontage 

required by the Zoning Ordinance, as defined in the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

7. Driveways must be located a minimum of 10 feet from the side property 

line unless a shared driveway is used, and a minimum of 40 feet from any 

street intersection. 

 

2.1.4 Monuments 

2.1.4.1 Monuments must be installed at all street intersections, at all points of change in 

direction or curvature of streets, at all lot corners, and at such other points 

where, in the opinion of the Board, permanent monuments are necessary. 

2.1.4.2 Monuments at all street lines must be at least 4” x 4” reinforced concrete or 

granite posts three feet in length with a drill hole in the center at the top, and 

must be set flush with the finished grade. Where exposed ledge prevents the 

installation of such monuments, the Board may approve use of a drill hole and 

iron pipe for those specific locations only. 

2.1.4.3 Monuments at all other locations (e.g. rear lot corners) may be iron pipe or drill 

hole. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 5 

2.1.4.4 No permanent monuments are to be installed until all construction which could 

destroy or disturb the monuments is completed. 

2.2 Relation to Natural Features 

2.2.1 Prevention of Erosion & Sedimentation 

2.2.1.1 The proposed subdivision must prevent soil erosion and sedimentation from 

entering waterbodies, wetlands, and adjacent properties. 

2.2.1.2 The procedures outlined in the erosion and sedimentation control plan are to be 

implemented during the site preparation, construction, and clean-up stages. 

2.2.1.3 Cutting or removal of vegetation along waterbodies must not increase water 

temperature or result in shoreline erosion or sedimentation. 

2.2.1.4 Topsoil is considered part of the subdivision and must not be removed from the 

site except for surplus topsoil from roads, parking areas, and building 

excavations, unless the removal has received approval from the Planning Board 

under the applicable provisions of the zoning ordinance. 

2.2.2 Natural Beauty & Aesthetics  

2.2.2.1 The Planning Board may require that a proposed subdivision protect existing 

individual trees of 12 inch diameter or greater, or wooded areas along public 

roads to minimize the impact of the new development on the landscape.  

2.2.2.2 If any area of a proposed subdivision is designated as a high value plant or 

animal habitat by the state of Maine (refer to the Maine Natural Areas 

Program), the proposal must indicate appropriate measures for the 

preservation of the values which qualify the site for such designation (e.g. the 

habitat will be protected within permanent open space).  

2.2.3 Historic or Archeological Resources. If any portion of the subdivision is designated as a site 

of historic or archeological importance by the comprehensive plan, the National Register 

of Historic Places, or the Maine Historic Preservation Commission, appropriate measures 

for the protection of the resource must be included in the plan in accordance with state or 

federal laws as applicable, and §3.8.3.2 or 3.8.4.2 of this ordinance, as applicable.  

2.2.4 Significant Wildlife Habitat. If any portion of a proposed subdivision lies within areas 

identified and mapped by the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (Beginning with 

Habitat maps September 2018, as amended from time to time), as being important 

wildlife habitat for species appearing on the official state or federal lists of endangered 

or threatened species, high or moderate value waterfowl habitats, including nesting and 

feeding areas, or high or moderate value deer wintering areas, the applicant must 

demonstrate that there will be minimal impact on the habitat and species it supports. The 

plan must provide for protection of the identified resource in a manner acceptable to the 

Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife or in accordance with the 

recommendations of a wildlife biologist with demonstrated experience with the wildlife 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 6 

resource being impacted. In the latter situation, the report prepared by the wildlife 

biologist must assess the potential impact of the subdivision on the significant habitat and 

adjacent areas that are important to the maintenance of the affected species and must 

describe appropriate mitigation measures to ensure that the subdivision will have minimal 

impacts on the habitat and the species it supports.  

2.2.5 Public Access to the Shoreline. Any existing public rights of access to the shoreline of a 

water body must be maintained by means of easements or rights-of-way, or be included 

in the required open space with provisions made for continued public access. 

2.2.6 Topography. Existing topography is to be preserved in the development of the land. 

Alterations to the existing topography be permitted that will have a detrimental impact on 

abutting properties or will alter topography on abutting properties without the express 

written consent of the abutting land owner, and in such cases a permanent easement must 

be obtained from the abutting land owner. 

2.3  Infrastructure 

2.3.1 Electric and Communication Utilities. Wherever possible, electric and communication utilities 

are to be placed underground and designed and installed within the street right-of-way 

but not under the pavement, in accordance with the regulations and standards of the 

applicable utility company. When underground placement is not possible, it is the 

applicant’s responsibility to provide proof to the Planning Board that underground 

placement is impractical. 

2.3.2 Water Supply  

2.3.2.1 Public Water Supply:  

1. All tracts proposed to be subdivided that are within 500 feet of the public 

water system must be connected to that system unless the Hampden Water 

District determines it has insufficient capacity to serve the population of the 

development. In such cases the Planning Board may approve private wells 

in accordance with §3.2.1.2, or a separate public water system to be 

owned and maintained by the developer or Homeowner’s Association is 

installed to serve the development.  

2. The water supply infrastructure including mains, gate valves, hydrants, and 

service connection stubs (to the lot line) must be designed to the 

specifications of, and approved by, the Hampden Water District and the 

Hampden Public Safety Department. All costs associated with the design 

and construction are the responsibility of the applicant.  

3. When the off-site water system infrastructure proposed to be connected to 

is inadequate to serve the needs of the proposed development, the 

applicant must pay the cost of upgrades to the existing system as necessary 

to serve the potable and fire suppression needs of the subdivision.  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 7 

4. Water supply infrastructure should be located within the road right-of-way 

but not under the pavement to the greatest extent possible, and where it 

deviates, an easement must be provided to the Hampden Water District in 

accordance with their requirements.  

5. When a proposed subdivision is located in an area not currently served by 

the Hampden Water District but where infrastructure extension is planned 

within the following 15 years, a “capped system” must be installed to allow 

future connection when service becomes available without the need to 

excavate the right-of-way to install the system. 

6. For subdivisions where there is a high probability that additional 

development will occur (by the applicant or any other person or entity) that 

would only have access to the public water system through the proposed 

system, the water infrastructure should be designed and built to provide for 

the needs of said future development. In such cases, the Planning Board 

may consult with the Hampden Water District and the Public Works 

Department to determine whether there is any possibility for cost sharing 

for the larger pipes and fittings made necessary by such planning for the 

future. Construction of the infrastructure that does not provide for such 

future extension may preclude future development on affected lands.  

7. All subdivisions, regardless of size, must provide an adequate water supply 

for fire suppression which must be approved by the Hampden Public Safety 

Department, and the Department of Public Works whenever fire hydrants 

are proposed, prior to final approval of the subdivision by the Planning 

Board. Where the public water supply is insufficient to meet the needs of 

the Public Safety Department, an alternative water supply is required; see 

§2.3.1.2.6 below. 

2.3.2.2 Private Water Supply 

1. Wherever a proposed subdivision is located in an area without access to 

the public water supply, or when the Hampden Water District determines 

there is insufficient capacity to serve the population of the proposed 

subdivision, either individual private wells or a private community system 

(which may be deemed a public water supply based on the number of 

dwelling units served) must be used to provide potable water to each 

dwelling.  

2. Individual wells are to be sited and constructed to prevent infiltration of 

surface water, and contamination from subsurface wastewater disposal 

systems and other sources of potential contamination.  

3. The Planning Board may require certification that sufficient water is 

available for the foreseeable needs of the subdivision. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 8 

4. Lot design must permit placement of wells, subsurface waste water disposal 

areas, and reserve sites for subsurface waste water disposal areas in 

compliance with the Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules (10-144 

CMR 241) and the Well Drillers and Pump Installers Rules (144 CMR 232).  

5. Dug wells are prohibited. This restriction must be included as a note on the 

final subdivision plan and as a deed restriction in each deed for the lots 

within the subdivision. 

6. If a private community system is provided that meets the definition of a 

public water supply, the location and protection of the source, and the 

design, construction and operation of the system must conform to the 

standards of the Maine Rules Relating to Drinking Water (10-144A C.M.R. 

231). 

7. The subdivision must provide for a reliable water supply for fire suppression 

purposes. Acceptable methods include, but are not limited to, fire ponds 

with an approved dry hydrant, other water sources with an approved dry 

hydrant, underground storage tanks designed specifically for this purpose, 

or approved residential sprinkler systems in each dwelling unit. The design 

and location of the fire suppression infrastructure must be reviewed and 

approved by the Public Safety Department and the Department of Public 

Works. The maintenance and repair of the infrastructure, if located on-site, 

is the responsibility of a Homeowner’s Association, with periodic inspections 

by the Public Safety Department. Where necessary, an easement must be 

granted to the Town for access to fire suppression infrastructure. 

2.3.3 Sewage Disposal  - Whenever a proposed subdivision is located within 500’ from a public 

sewer line measured from any point of the tract being subdivided, the subdivision must be 

connected to the sewer system. The only exceptions to this requirement are when there are 

physical barriers (e.g. excessive ledge) between the tract and the sewer line that cause 

the cost of extension to the tract to be more than twice the cost if such barriers are absent, 

or when the Hampden Sewer Utility makes a determination that the existing sewer system 

in the area of the proposed subdivision has insufficient capacity to serve the subdivision 

and there is no potential for increasing the capacity of the system within five years of the 

date of the subdivision application submittal (initial submittal). The developer may either 

on his own or through a public/private partnership  pay the cost of necessary 

improvements to accelerate the construction of such improvements to allow the subdivision 

to be approved and constructed sooner. 

2.3.3.1 Public Sewer 

1. The complete sanitary sewage system within the subdivision, including mains, 

manholes, pump stations, and laterals to the property line of each lot 

created must be installed and inspected at the expense of the applicant. 

2. All components of the sanitary sewage system must be designed by a 

professional engineer registered in the State of Maine and must comply 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 9 

with the requirements of the Hampden Sewer Ordinance. The Hampden 

Sewer Utility or their designee is to review and approve the construction 

drawings for the sewer system, including the size and location of laterals, 

collectors, manholes, and pump stations. 

3. Sewer infrastructure that is designed within the street right-of-way should 

be installed under the pavement; in the center of the road is the preferred 

location but under the edge is acceptable provided the sewer line complies 

with required separation distances from other underground utilities.  

4. When the road and utility infrastructure is proposed to be accepted by the 

Town and any portion of the sewer system is located outside of the road 

right-of-way, the developer must provide the Town of Hampden with utility 

easements. Such easements must be reviewed and approved by the 

Hampden Sewer Utility.  

2.3.3.2 Private Sewage Disposal 

1. Proposed subdivisions that are to be connected to the public system but 

which will not have any publicly owned infrastructure within the subdivision 

must submit legal documents showing evidence of the perpetual 

maintenance of all components of the private sewage system. Said 

documents must be reviewed by the Public Works Director, Town Manager, 

Town Attorney and Town engineering consultant, and a written 

recommendation to the Town Council for final approval of said documents 

must be submitted to the Planning Board prior to approval of the 

subdivision. 

2. Individual private wastewater disposal systems or a private treatment 

facility with subsurface discharge designed to serve multiple dwelling units 

must be provided for subdivisions that are not connected to the public sewer 

system.  

3. The developer must submit evidence of site suitability for subsurface 

sewage disposal prepared by a Maine Licensed Site Evaluator in full 

compliance with the requirements of the State of Maine Subsurface 

Wastewater Disposal Rules. The site evaluator must certify in writing that all 

test pits which meet the requirements for a new system represent an area 

large enough for a disposal area on soils which meet the Disposal Rules. 

4. A second site with suitable soils must be shown as a reserve area for future 

replacement of the disposal area if the limiting factor has been identified 

as being within eighteen (18) inches of the surface, and if one or more of 

the following conditions exist. The reserve area must be shown on the plan 

and restricted by a notation on the plan and within the deed to the lot so as 

not to be built upon. 

a. if the lot is less than one acre in size  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 10 

b. if the lot is located in a subdivision that has a net residential density of 

more than one unit per acre 

c. if the lot is located outside of the existing and likely future service area 

of the public water system 

d. if the lot includes a natural resource such as, but not limited to, being 

located over a mapped sand and gravel aquifer, or being in a 

shoreland area, or being within one hundred (100) horizontal feet of a 

high value wetland.  

5. No lot can be created which would require a New System Variance from 

the Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules for the disposal area.  

2.3.4 Stormwater Management 

2.3.4.1 For subdivisions that require a DEP review under the Site Location of 

Development Act (SLODA), the stormwater management for the subdivision must 

comply with the Act and DEP’s rules.  

2.3.4.2 For subdivisions that do not require a SLODA permit, but require a DEP permit 

under the Stormwater Law, the stormwater management for the subdivision must 

comply with the requirements of DEP Chapter 500 Stormwater Management 

Rules. 

2.3.4.3 For all subdivisions which disturb more than 20,000 square feet of land at full 

buildout, adequate provision must be made for the management of the quantity 

and quality of all stormwater generated within the subdivision through a 

management system using practices equivalent to those described in the current 

version of the Maine Stormwater Management Design Manual, published by the 

Maine Department of Environmental Protection. “Adequate provision” for 

stormwater quantity means the post-development peak discharge rate does not 

exceed the pre-development peak discharge rate for the design storm (see 

definition).   

2.3.4.4 The design of stormwater systems must be fully cognizant of off-site run-on 

which passes over or through the proposed subdivision. The system must be 

designed to pass off-site run-on and runoff from the subdivision generated by 

the design storm at full buildout, without surcharging the system. 

2.3.4.5 Subdivisions within the watershed of a lake most at risk from new development 

(Hermon Pond or Patten Pond) or within the watershed of an urban impaired 

stream (Shaw Brook or Sucker Brook) that include one acre or more of disturbed 

area must submit proof of compliance with DEP Chapter 502 Direct Watersheds 

of Lakes Most At Risk From New Development, and Urban Impaired Streams Rules.  

2.3.4.6 The plans and specifications for any stormwater system serving a proposed 

subdivision must be designed by a professional engineer licensed in the State of 

Maine and installed according to the approved plans. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 11 

2.3.4.7 The developer must maintain all components of the stormwater management 

system until one of the following occurs: 

2.3.4.7.1 The system is formally accepted by the Town. Any stormwater 

component that is not part of a roadway proposed for public 

acceptance must be covered by an easement to the Town. 

2.3.4.7.2 The system is placed under the jurisdiction of a legally created 

property owners association. The association is responsible for 

maintenance of the system, and must have adequate financing to 

carry out this responsibility. For subdivisions outside of the MS4 

area, a stormwater maintenance agreement must be executed 

between the Town and the developer/future property owners. This 

agreement must be recorded at the Penobscot County Registry of 

Deeds and referenced on the Recording Plan and in the deeds to 

each lot within the subdivision. This agreement must include 

provisions for annual inspection of all components of the stormwater 

system by a qualified stormwater inspector, and provisions for 

correcting deficiencies identified. The agreement included in the 

Hampden Post-Construction Stormwater Management Ordinance 

may be used as a template. 

2.3.4.8 For subdivisions where the infrastructure is proposed to be accepted by the 

Town, if any portion of the stormwater management system is located outside 

the road right-of-way, the developer must provide the Town with stormwater 

utility easements. Such easements must be reviewed and approved by the 

Hampden Department of Public Works prior to Planning Board approval. These 

easements must be a minimum of 30 feet wide, centered on the stormwater 

component, or in the case of a non-linear component must fully enclose the area 

of the facility plus 30 feet from the perimeter of the component (e.g. detention 

pond).  

2.3.4.9 Where necessary as part of the stormwater management system, driveway 

culverts must be installed during road construction to ensure the system functions 

as designed. The driveway apron must be constructed over the culvert to 

provide access to the lot, however it is not necessary to pave the apron until the 

lot is developed. 

2.3.4.10 All culverts must be sized based on the watershed upgradient of the culvert and 

in no case be smaller than 12 inches in diameter. 

2.3.4.11 All components of the stormwater management system must comply with the 

most recent edition of the MaineDOT Standard Specifications and good 

engineering practices. 

2.3.5 Solid Waste 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 12 

Solid waste generated by occupants within the proposed subdivision must be handled in 

compliance with the Hampden Solid Waste Flow Control and Licensing Ordinance. If the 

additional solid waste from the proposed subdivision exceeds the capacity of the Town’s 

solid waste facility, or causes the Town’s facility to no longer be in compliance with its 

license from the Department of Environmental Protection, or causes the Town to exceed its 

contract with a non-municipal facility, the applicant must make alternate arrangements for 

the disposal of solid waste for a period not exceeding 5 years. The alternate 

arrangements must be at a disposal facility which is in compliance with its license.  

2.3.6 Streets and Sidewalks 

 2.3.6.1 Street Layout 

1. The street system of the proposed subdivision is to be designed to 

coordinate with existing, proposed, and planned streets. Wherever a 

proposed development abuts unplatted land or a future development 

phase of the same development, street stubs are to be provided as 

deemed necessary by the Planning Board to provide access to abutting 

properties or to logically extend the street system. All street stubs must be 

provided with temporary turn around or cul-de-sacs unless specifically 

exempted by the Planning Board with the recommendation of the Public 

Works Director, and the restoration and expansion of the street will be the 

responsibility of any future developer of the abutting land. Lanes and 

streets should connect with surrounding streets to permit convenient 

movement of traffic between residential neighborhoods or facilitate 

emergency access and evacuation, but such connections may not be 

permitted where the effect would be to encourage the use of such streets 

by substantial through traffic. 

2. Where necessary as determined by the Planning Board to safeguard 

against hazards to vehicle drivers, bicyclists and pedestrians, or to avoid 

traffic congestion, provision must be made for turning lanes, traffic 

directional islands, frontage roads, sidewalks, bicycle ways, transportation 

demand management techniques, and traffic controls within existing public 

streets. 

3. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an arterial street, no lot may have 

vehicular access directly to the arterial street. This restriction must be noted 

on the subdivision plan and in the deed of any lot which abuts the arterial 

street. 

4. Where a lot abuts two or more streets, the driveway access to the lot must 

be to the street with the lowest potential for creating hazards to traffic or 

pedestrians. This restriction must be noted on the subdivision plan and in the 

deed of any lot so affected. 

5. Street intersections must be as close to 90 degrees as possible, and in no 

case less than 60 degrees.  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 13 

6. Reserve strips of land controlling access to streets are prohibited except 

where the control of the strip is definitely placed with the Town under 

conditions approved by the Town Council. 

7. Where a subdivision borders an existing narrow street (below the 

standards set herein), or when the comprehensive plan or capital 

improvement plan indicates plans for realignment or widening of a road 

that would require use of some of the land in the subdivision, the 

preliminary and final plans must indicate reserved areas for the road 

improvements marked “Reserved for Road Realignment (Widening) 

Purposes.” Land reserved for such purposes may not be included in 

computing lot area or setback requirements of the zoning ordinance. 

2.3.6.2 State Permits 

1. Accesses into the subdivision connecting to any state or state-aid highway 

must be granted a permit by the Maine Department of Transportation 

(DOT) under their Highway Driveway and Entrance Rules. This permit must 

be issued prior to final subdivision approval.  

2. Accesses that are expected to carry more than 100 passenger vehicle 

equivalent trips in the peak hour must meet the minimum access permitting 

requirements of the Maine Department of Transportation Rules and 

Regulations Pertaining to Traffic Movement Permits. 

2.3.6.3 Roadway Design Standards 

1. Minimum sight distance requirements for all subdivision accesses connecting 

to external streets are contingent on the posted speed of the external street 

connecting to the subdivision access and must comply with the distances in 

the 

following table. 

Posted Speed (MPH) 
of existing road that 
proposed road will 

intersect with 

Sight Distance (feet) 

Lane or Street 
Nonresidential 

Street 

20 155 230 

25 200 300 

30 250 375 

35 305 455 

40 360 540 

45 425 635 

501 495 740 
Footnotes: 
1. The section of  Main Road South (Route 1A) where the speed limit is 50 

MPH is designated as a ME DOT “Mobility Arterial.” All new subdivision 
streets accessing in this section are required to have a minimum sight 
distance of 840 feet. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Street design and construction standards. All new streets in the Town of 

Hampden must comply with the standards in the following table. For streets 

with design speeds greater than 30 mph, the Planning Board has the 

authority to increase these minimum standards. For streets that will remain 

private, see §2.3.6.3.4.  

 

Item Lane Street Nonresidential Street 

ADT Volume 0-250 >250 Any 

Number of lots/units 1-25 26+ Any 

Minimum right-of-way width 66 ft 66 ft 100 ft 

Minimum distance to street 
intersection 

125 ft 200 ft 200 ft 

Minimum centerline radii on 
curves 

90 ft 165 ft 260 ft 

Minimum tangent length between 
reverse curves 

100 ft 200 ft 200 ft 

Minimum K-factor, crest vertical 
curve (hill) 

12 7 29 

Minimum K-factor, sag vertical 
curve (dip) 

17 26 49 

Minimum radius at intersections 15 ft to lane 
15 ft to street 

20 ft to street 
25 ft to street 

25 ft to nonresid st 

Minimum sight triangle easement 
(length along primary or existing 
street/length along secondary or new 
street) 

75 ft/30 ft 150 ft/40 ft 200 ft/40 ft 

Minimum pavement width 20 ft 24 ft 24 ft 

Minimum shoulder width 2 ft 2 ft 3 ft 

Minimum grade 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 

Maximum grade 8% 8% 8% 

Distance from intersection where 
maximum grade is 3% 

50 ft 75 ft 75 ft 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 15 

Item Lane Street Nonresidential Street 

Minimum road crown, centerline 
to edge of pavement 

3 in 3 in 3 in 

Dead end streets:    

Solid cul-de-sac    

Minimum right-of-way 
radius 

50 ft 55 ft 60 ft 

Minimum pavement radius 35 ft 40 ft 40 ft 

Maximum pavement radius 40 ft 45 ft 45 ft 

Open center cul-de-sac    

Minimum right-of-way 
radius 

80 ft 80 ft 84 ft 

Minimum inside pavement 
radius 

50 ft 50 ft 50 ft 

Minimum outside pavement 
radius 

70 ft 70 ft 74 ft 

Minimum pavement width 20 ft 20 ft 24 ft 

T or Y end Permitted for lanes 
serving up to 10 units 

Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Minimum pavement width 20 ft NA NA 

Minimum length of T or Y 60 ft NA NA 

Minimum depth of subgrade 
grading from top of pavement 

26 in 28 in 34.5 in 

Minimum depth of sub-base 
gravel  

18 in 18 in 24 in 

Minimum depth of upper base 
gravel 

4 in 6 in 6 in 

Minimum thickness of pavement – 
base course 

2.5 in 2.5 in 3 in 

Minimum thickness of pavement – 
surface course 

1.5 in 1.5 in 1.5 in 

 

3. All streets must comply with the following standards: 

a. The grades of streets should follow the existing topography to the 

greatest extent practicable. 

b. The steepest side slope permitted is three feet horizontal to one foot 

vertical (3:1) and all side slopes must have a minimum of six inches of 

loam and be seeded. The only exception to this standard is where there 

is a cut into ledge, where the exposed ledge may be up to one foot 

horizontal to four feet vertical (1:4). Where a side slope extends 

outside the required right-of-way, the boundary of the right-of-way 

must be adjusted to contain the entire side slope area. 

c. All underground utilities must be installed prior to paving to avoid cuts 

in the pavement, and wherever possible should not be installed under 

the pavement. All utilities to serve structures (e.g. houses) must be 

installed to the edge of the right-of-way prior to paving.  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 16 

d. The roadway area must be brought to the grade shown on the 

approved plan, profile, and cross-section using suitable gravel. The sub-

base and base materials must meet the standards for aggregate 

courses as contained in the current edition of the ME DOT Standard 

Specifications.   

e. For paved streets, after the sub-base has been compacted to the 

appropriate degree, pavement meeting the requirements of the current 

edition of the ME DOT Standard Specifications is to be applied. Where 

new pavement abuts existing pavement, the existing pavement must be 

ground a minimum of 12 inches back from the joint and a butt joint 

used.  

f. The Planning Board may require curbing of streets. 

g. Existing trees within the center of an open center cul-de-sac must be 

preserved to the greatest extent practical, taking into consideration the 

need for space for snow storage. Where the location and the type of 

root system of a specific tree would have a negative impact on the 

pavement, it may be removed. Any other vegetation to remain or to be 

planted should be of a type that requires minimal maintenance. The use 

of low impact development best management practices within the open 

center is encouraged.  

4. Private streets. For streets that are proposed to be private, the following 

modifications to the standards listed above apply. Any private street that is 

designed or constructed to these reduced standards will not be eligible for 

acceptance as a public way at any time unless the roadway is brought up 

to the standards for the applicable type (lane, street, or nonresidential) that 

are in effect at the time of the request for acceptance.  

a. The minimum right-of-way width may be reduced to 50 feet for lanes 

and streets. 

b. Pavement is optional for subdivisions of 4 or fewer lots for single family 

residences. All other subdivisions must have paved streets. 

c. Unpaved lanes or streets must have a minimum thickness of 4 inches of 

surface gravel. 

d. Paved lanes or streets may have pavement width as narrow as 16 feet. 

e. The minimum distance from an intersection where the maximum grade is 

3% is 100 feet for an unpaved road, to minimize material washing into 

the intersection. 

 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 17 

5. Preparation of the right-of-way.  

a. Before starting any clearing of the right-of-way, the center line and 

side lines of the new street must be staked or flagged at 50 foot 

intervals.  

b. The entire right-of-way is not to be cleared. Only the area required for 

construction of the street, sidewalk, shoulders, stormwater management 

facilities, and underground utilities is to be cleared. Within that area, 

all vegetation including stumps, roots, and brush, and all shallow ledge 

and large boulders must be removed.  

c. All organic materials or other deleterious material shall be removed to 

a depth of two feet below the sub grade of the roadway. Rocks and 

boulders shall also be removed to a depth of two feet below the sub 

grade of the roadway. On soils which have been identified by the 

developer’s engineer as not suitable for roadways, either the subsoil 

shall be removed to a depth of two feet below the sub grade and 

replaced with material meeting the specifications for gravel aggregate 

sub-base below, or a ME DOT approved stabilization geotextile may 

be used. 

2.3.6.4 Sidewalks 

1. The Planning Board may require a sidewalk on one side of the street for 

any through-way street.  

2. All sidewalks must be a minimum of 5 feet wide, separated from the edge 

of the street pavement with an esplanade of at least 6 feet in width. 

3. All sidewalks must have a minimum of 9 inches of gravel base, and be 

paved with a minimum of 2 inches of pavement laid down in two lifts of 1 

inch each. 

4. All sidewalks must comply with the Americans With Disabilities Act. 

2.3.6.5 Street Names and Signage 

1. Each street, regardless of ownership (public or private) in a proposed 

subdivision must be named in accordance with the Hampden E911 

Addressing Ordinance.  

2. Proposed street names must be shown on the sketch plan and must be 

approved by the Addressing Officer prior to Planning Board approval of 

the recording plan.  

3. To assist in assigning addresses to the structures to be built within the 

subdivision, the final street layout plan must include markings every 50 feet 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 18 

along each edge of the street (pavement or gravel travel way) specifically 

for future address assignments.  

4. All street signage including but not limited to stop signs and street name 

signs must be provided by and installed by the developer, must meet town 

specifications, and must be approved by the DPW Director.  

2.3.6.6 Street Lighting. All street lights shown on the subdivision plan are to be installed 

by the developer and must conform to the requirements of the Town and the 

utility company.  

2.3.6.7 Street Trees. Street trees are required along roadways. Where no trees exist, 

such as open fields or lands where forest harvesting has eliminated the majority 

of trees worthy of preservation, trees must be planted approximately 50 feet 

apart, with flexibility to account for driveway locations, utility poles, and other 

infrastructure facilities that would preclude the planting of a tree, including 

underground utilities and private service connections. Appropriate species must 

be chosen to minimize maintenance, negative impacts on stormwater 

management systems or underground utilities, and impacts from overhead utility 

lines. Where necessary, the Planning Board may waive the requirement for 

street trees on one side of the street to avoid overhead or underground utility 

conflicts. Where existing trees are present, the plans must show which are to be 

retained to fulfil the intent of the above, and appropriate measures must be 

taken to protect such trees from damage during construction. Any trees noted to 

be retained which are either cut or die as a result of construction must be 

replaced with new trees per the guidance above prior to the issuance of a 

Certificate of Compliance for the subdivision.  

2.3.6.8 Postal Delivery 

1. All new subdivisions must comply with the United States Postal Service 

(USPS) requirements for mail delivery. In most cases for major subdivisions, 

this will require the placement of a centralized delivery structure. This 

structure must be shown on the preliminary subdivision plan and must be 

designed with a pull-off area large enough for at least two cars to pull off 

the traveled way.  

2. Where individual mailboxes are permitted by the USPS, they must be 

mounted on “gooseneck” type posts which must be installed in the ground a 

minimum of 4 feet from the edge of pavement and the bottom of the mail 

receptacle must be 45 inches from the ground to allow for clearance space 

for plows.  

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 19 

Article 3: Procedures 

3.1 General Procedure 

3.1.1 All subdivision applications must submit two copies of a sketch plan to the Town Planner 

for a determination of the type of subdivision (minor or major, standard or cluster) and the 

type of road (lane, street, or nonresidential).  

3.1.2 The Town Planner must make a determination of the subdivision type and process to 

follow, and notify the applicant of such in writing within 14 calendar days of the 

submission of the sketch plan. In the event the applicant disagrees with the decision, the 

Planning Board will make the final determination at their next available meeting.  

3.2 Minor Subdivisions 

3.2.1 Application. Upon receipt of 14 copies of the minor subdivision plan and recording plan, 

the Town Planner will: 

3.2.1.1 Provide a written, dated receipt to the applicant; 

3.2.1.2 Review the application and make a determination whether it is complete; if it is 

not complete then notify the applicant in writing that it is not complete, noting 

missing items;  

3.2.1.3 Place the application on the next available Planning Board agenda in 

compliance with the published application deadline schedule; and 

3.2.1.4 Mail to the following via first class mail a notification letter providing the 

location of and a description of the proposed subdivision:  

1. All abutters within 300 feet of the parent parcel 

2. Any municipality abutting the parent parcel 

3. Any public drinking water supplier if the subdivision is within their source 

water protection area. 

3.2.2 Planning Board Action. At the Planning Board meeting, the applicant is to make a 

presentation of the proposal and staff comments are provided. The Planning Board will 

then deliberate on the application and unless they make a finding that the application 

does not meet the approval criteria, or additional information is needed, they will take 

action on the application. Such action may be approval as submitted, approval with 

conditions, or denial. If approved and no conditions are placed which require a 

modification of the plan, the Board will sign the subdivision plan; otherwise a revised final 

plan must be submitted for review to determine compliance with any conditions that 

required plan modification, and once ready, the Board will sign the plan.  A Board Order 

will also be prepared and signed by the Planning Board; it will list any conditions placed 

on the approval. 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 20 

3.3 Major Subdivisions 

3.3.1 Sketch Plan: 

3.3.1.1 Upon determination by the Town Planner that the proposed subdivision is a 

major subdivision (see §3.1.2), the Planner will distribute the sketch plan to the 

Staff Review Committee and the Planning Board. The purpose of this step is to 

provide an opportunity for the applicant to describe the proposed project and 

solicit comments from staff and the Planning Board which may be helpful to the 

applicant prior to the expenditure of substantial sums of money for surveying 

and engineering work.  

3.3.1.2 The Town Planner will place the sketch plan on the next available Planning 

Board agenda in compliance with the published application deadline schedule. 

3.3.1.3 At the Planning Board meeting, the Board and applicant are to discuss the 

sketch plan and any comments are non-binding and are to be presented 

verbally to the applicant.  

3.3.2 Preliminary Plan: 

3.3.2.1 The applicant is to submit 5 full size copies of the preliminary subdivision plan 

with all required documentation, fees, and escrow account deposit within 6 

months of the Planning Board meeting on the sketch plan. If more than 6 months 

has passed, then the sketch plan must be resubmitted. If any amendments to the 

Zoning or Subdivision Ordinances have become effective since the submission of 

the sketch plan, the preliminary plan must comply with those amendments.  

3.3.2.2 The Town Planner will place the preliminary plan on the next available Planning 

Board agenda for a Public Hearing in compliance with the published 

application deadline schedule. 

3.3.2.3 Public hearing notification: 

1. Must include the date, time, and place of the hearing, the location of the 

proposed subdivision, and a general description of the project 

2. Town staff will mail the notification via first class mail to the applicant, the 

applicant’s agent if applicable, and to each abutter within 300 feet of the 

parent parcel  

3. Town staff will place the notice for publication in a newspaper of general 

circulation in Hampden which must be published twice, with the date of the 

first publication 7 or more days prior to the hearing 

3.3.2.4 The Town Planner will distribute the application to the Staff Review Committee 

and to the reviewing engineer for review, with a due date for comments 21 

days from the receipt of the application from the applicant. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 21 

3.3.2.5 The Town Planner will submit a written preliminary report including all comments 

received from the staff and engineer to the applicant within 26 days of receipt 

of the application.  

3.3.2.6 If modifications are necessary, the applicant must submit 14 copies of a revised 

preliminary plan with all required documentation at least 9 days prior to the 

scheduled Planning Board meeting. If no modifications are necessary, the 

applicant must submit 9 copies of the plan and all required documentation 

within this timeframe. 

3.3.2.7 The Town Planner will distribute the preliminary plan to the Planning Board, and 

if applicable, to the Staff Review Committee and reviewing engineer, along 

with a report from the Town Planner. 

3.3.2.8 The public hearing will be held in accordance with the Planning Board Bylaws, 

and upon completion of the hearing, the Planning Board, within 30 days of the 

conclusion of the public hearing, must take action on the application. The Board 

and the applicant may agree to a longer timeframe when circumstances 

warrant. The Planning Board action may be any of the following, to be noted as 

appropriate in a written Board Order, which must include findings of fact 

regarding the approval criteria: 

1. Approval of the preliminary plan as submitted. 

2. Approval of the preliminary plan with conditions that the Board considers 

advisable to satisfy the approval criteria or any other local regulation, or 

to protect the public’s health, safety, and general welfare. The Board 

Order should include a listing of modifications necessary to be made to the 

proposed plan for the final plan submission, and any waiver requests that 

the Board agrees to.  

3. Denial of the preliminary plan, in which case the Board Order must include 

formal findings of fact that support the denial.  

4. Failure of the Planning Board to take action within the 30 day timeframe 

will result in an automatic approval with no conditions. 

3.3.3 Final Approval, Recording Plan  

3.3.3.1 The applicant must submit 14 copies of the recording plan with the application 

form, improvement guarantee, and application fee within 6 months of the Board 

Order on the preliminary plan. If more than 6 months has passed, then the 

preliminary plan must be resubmitted. If any amendments to the Zoning or 

Subdivision Ordinances have become effective since the submission of the 

preliminary plan, the preliminary and recording plans must comply with those 

amendments. In cases where delays have been caused by other regulatory 

bodies such that the 6 month deadline cannot be met, the applicant can, prior to 

the deadline, request in writing an extension which states the reasons for the 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 22 

request and a proposed extension timeframe. At its next available meeting, the 

Planning Board must consider the request and may grant it or deny it. In 

deliberating on the request, the Board should consider whether they believe the 

applicant has been making progress in preparation of the recording plan and 

in pursuing approval from other agencies. 

3.3.3.2 The Town Planner will place the application on the next available Planning 

Board agenda in compliance with the published application deadline schedule. 

3.3.3.3 The Town Planner will distribute the application to the Staff Review Committee 

for review, with a due date for comments 14 days from the receipt of the 

application from the applicant. 

3.3.3.4 The Town Planner will distribute the application to the Planning Board along 

with a report including all staff comments. 

3.3.3.5 The Planning Board must make a decision within 60 days of the application 

submittal unless there is a written agreement between the applicant and the 

Board to extend the timeframe. A Board Order must be prepared which 

includes findings of fact regarding the approval criteria and, if necessary, any 

conditions to ensure the approval criteria are met.  

3.4 Amendments to An Approved Subdivision Plan 

3.4.1 Any modification to an approved subdivision plan must be approved by the Planning 

Board prior to recording said modified plan at the registry of deeds, regardless of when 

the subdivision approval was granted in relation to when the modification is requested. 

This is to ensure compliance with Title 30-A MRSA §4406 paragraph 1(E). 

3.4.2 A modification that does not create any new lots or housing units and that maintains the 

general design of the approved subdivision should follow the procedures under Minor 

Subdivision (§3.2). This includes the combining of two or more lots into a single lot. 

3.4.3 Any other modification (e.g. creates new lots or housing units, or is a substantial deviation 

from the approved subdivision plan such as changes to overall layout) must follow the 

procedures for Major Subdivision, preliminary plan (§3.3.2) and final plan (§3.3.3). 

3.4.4 The submission requirements of §3.7 should be adhered to only to the extent necessary to 

provide the Planning Board with sufficient information for them to determine that the 

proposed modifications are in compliance with the approval criteria. The Board reserves 

the right to require additional information than what is submitted when they believe such 

information is needed for them to make a decision on the application. 

3.4.5 In all cases the revised final subdivision plan must include the title of the subdivision and 

the recording information from the registry of deeds of the original and any subsequent 

approved plans (e.g. book and page or cabinet and sheet). 

3.4.6 The Planning Board’s review is limited to those portions of the subdivision plan that are 

proposed to be modified, and the impacts and effects of such modifications.  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 23 

3.5 Appeals. An appeal may be taken by any party, within 30 days from the Planning Board’s 

decision on the Recording Plan, to Superior Court in accordance with Rule 80B of the Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

3.6 Improvement Guarantee. All subdivisions which involve the construction of any improvements 

necessary for access to, or utilities for, the lots within the subdivision, including but not limited to 

roads, sidewalks, stormwater management facilities, sewer lines, water lines, water sources for 

firefighting purposes, but excluding power or communication infrastructure, must provide an 

improvement guarantee in accordance with this section.  

3.6.1 Types of Guarantees. Any one or a combination of the following are acceptable:  

3.6.1.1 An escrow account funded by cash or a certified check payable to the Town of 

Hampden and governed by an escrow agreement in a form reviewed by the 

Town Attorney and accepted by the Town Manager. Any interest earned on the 

escrow account shall be returned to the developer. 

3.6.1.2 An escrow account funded by a savings account or certificate of deposit naming 

the Town of Hampden as escrow agent. 

3.6.1.3 An irrevocable letter of credit from a financial institution establishing funding 

for the construction of the subdivision, from which the Town may draw if 

construction is inadequate, reviewed by the Town Attorney and approved 

[accepted?] by the Town Manager. The letter of credit must indicate that the 

funds are solely for the use of the specific subdivision, and must include the 

procedures for the release of funds to the developer, and if necessary, the 

Town.  

3.6.1.4 A performance bond running to the Town of Hampden issued by a surety 

company licensed to do business in the State of Maine, reviewed by the Town 

Attorney and accepted by the Town Manager. The performance bond must 

indicate that the bond covers only the specific subdivision, set forth the 

conditions of the bond, the method for release of all or a portion of the bond to 

the developer, and the procedures for collection by the Town.  

3.6.2 Amount and Content. The amount of the guarantee shall be 125 percent of the cost of 

furnishing, installing, connecting and completing in good working condition all of the roads, 

storm drainage system, sewer and water systems, water supplies for fire suppression, 

recreational amenities, and other similar improvements, as specified in the final approval. 

The improvement guarantee must be based on a construction schedule, including cost 

estimates for each major phase of construction taking into account inflation and provisions 

for inspections of each phase of construction. The improvement guarantee instrument must 

specify a date after which the developer will be in default and the Town will have access 

to the funds to finish construction. The improvement guarantee may, at the discretion of the 

Town, provide for partial releases of the improvement guarantee amount as specific 

portions of the required improvements are completed, but any requested release can only 

be made after approval by the Town Manager with a positive recommendation by the 

Director of Public Works. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 24 

3.6.3 Duration. The improvement guarantee must remain in force for the entire period during 

which development of the subdivision occurs, or in the case of default, while the Town 

pursues its remedies for default, until the guarantee is released by the Town in accordance 

with §3.6.6.  If the time frame for constructing the improvements covered by the guarantee 

is extended, the improvement guarantee shall also be extended.  If an improvement 

guarantee expires and is not renewed, the Town will deny any request for public 

acceptance of any infrastructure within the subdivision.  

3.6.4 Building Permits. Per §5.3.1.2 of the Hampden Zoning Ordinance, a building permit may 

be issued for a new structure on a lot within a new subdivision prior to completion of the 

road and other infrastructure, but no Certificate of Occupancy will be issued until 

compliance with §5.3.2.1.4 of the Zoning Ordinance is proven.  

3.6.5 Phased Construction. The Planning Board may approve plans to develop a Major 

Subdivision in separate and distinct phases. This may be accomplished by limiting final 

approval to those lots abutting that section of the proposed subdivision street which is 

covered by an improvement guarantee. When development is phased, road construction 

must commence from an existing public way. Final approval of lots in subsequent phases 

must not be granted until all requirements pertaining to previous phases have been 

completed to the satisfaction of the Town.  

3.6.6 Release of Guarantee. Prior to the release of any part of the improvement guarantee, the 

Town Manager shall determine to his/her satisfaction that the proposed improvements 

meet or exceed the design and construction requirements for that portion or phase of the 

subdivision for which the release is requested. The decision of the Town Manager is to be 

based upon a report from the inspecting engineer, the Director of Public Works, and any 

other town departments or outside agencies who may be involved.  

3.6.7 Default. The improvement guarantee instrument must specify a date after which the 

developer will be in default and the Town will have access to the funds to finish 

construction. The improvement guarantee may, at the discretion of the Town, provide for 

partial releases of the performance guarantee amount as specific portions of the required 

improvements are completed.  

3.7 Construction  

 

3.7.1 Pre-construction Meeting. Prior to the initiation of construction (including clearing and 

grubbing of the site), a pre-construction meeting must be held with the developer, Director 

of Public Works, Hampden Water District (if applicable), Town Planner, and Code 

Enforcement Officer.  Evidence of issuance of required state and local permits that were 

obtained after final approval of the plans by the Planning Board must be submitted by 

the developer at this meeting. The purpose of this meeting is to ensure that the town staff 

can arrange for inspections to assure that all specifications, requirements, and conditions 

of the subdivision approval are met during the construction of required improvements, and 

to assure the satisfactory completion of those improvements. 

 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 25 

3.7.2 Requirements Prior to Construction.  

3.7.2.1 Deposit with the Town an inspection fee in accordance with the Fees Ordinance. 

This money is to be deposited in a separate Construction Inspection Draw 

Account specific to the subdivision.  

 

3.7.2.2 Construction entrance/exit. A pad of coarse aggregate must be installed at 

each construction entrance/exit for the purpose of removing soil from the tires 

of vehicles exiting the site. This pad must be a minimum of 75 feet in length and 

24 feet in width, constructed with angular aggregate of 2-3 inch diameter, a 

minimum of 6 inches deep, placed over a geotextile filter fabric to prevent 

stones from being pushed into the underlying soil. As needed, diversion ridges 

or berms should be used to divert runoff to a sediment trap. An alternative 

design may be approved by the Director of Public Works. If the pad becomes 

clogged with sediment it should be replaced. If sediment is tracked onto any 

public road, the developer is responsible for cleaning it off in an appropriate 

manner (e.g. use of a street sweeper) within 24 hours of being notified by the 

town that cleaning is required, or for paying the cost if the town sweeps it up.  

 

3.7.2.3 Development sign. The developer must post a 24”x36” weather resistant sign at 

the entrance of the subdivision which states the name of the project, the hours of 

operation, the phone number of the developer, and the phone number of the 

Hampden Public Safety Department. 

 

3.7.3 Permitted Construction Times. No construction activity which may cause noise, vibrations, 

glare, dust, debris, or other detrimental impact to abutting property owners shall be 

permitted earlier than 7:00 am or later than 7:00 pm Monday through Saturday or 

earlier than 9:00 am or later than 5:00 pm on Sunday. The Planning Board reserves the 

right to set different construction times as a condition of approval on the Final Subdivision 

Plan. 

 

3.7.4 Debris and Trash. The site shall be kept reasonably clear of construction debris and trash, 

and said debris and trash shall be removed periodically from the site. Debris or trash 

which becomes a nuisance to abutters shall be removed by the developer immediately 

upon notification by the Town or its representative. 

 

3.7.5 Dust Control Measures. Measures must be in place while sweeping and during construction, 

using proper dust control methods.  

 

3.7.6 Stockpiling. Materials shall only be stockpiled in the locations as shown on the plans and 

shall be screened from the view of existing homes on any abutting property to the extent 

practicable. All stockpiles shall be removed by the developer upon completion of the 

infrastructure and prior to release of any portion of the improvement guarantee. 

 

3.7.7 Inspections.  

3.7.7.1 Inspections required. The Town must designate a professional engineer qualified 

to conduct field inspections to serve as the inspecting engineer for the 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 26 

subdivision. The inspecting engineer will serve under the guidance of the 

Director of Public Works. The developer is responsible for paying all costs 

associated with the inspections by the inspecting engineer, via the Construction 

Inspection Draw Account.  

 

3.7.7.2 Inspection schedule. The following inspections are required, and additional 

inspections may be required at the direction of the Director of Public Works: 

1. construction stakeout of roads and lots 

2. installation of erosion control measures 

3. after land clearing and grubbing 

4. sewer installation (this does not replace any inspections required by the 

Sewer Ordinance, although if arranged in advance a single inspection 

may satisfy both needs) 

5. water installation (this does not replace any inspections required by the 

Hampden Water District, although if arranged in advance a single 

inspection may satisfy both needs) 

6. utility installations (electric, cable, telephone, gas, street lights; this 

inspection will be made at the discretion of the inspecting engineer) 

7. stormwater management system installation (may require more than one 

inspection depending on construction sequence) 

8. roadway: 

a. subgrade excavation and compaction 

b. gravel base and compaction 

c. curbing installation 

d. sidewalks 

e. proof rolling for pavement 

f. base course installation 

g. top course installation 

h. guardrail, wall installation (if applicable) 

9. loam, seed, and fertilizer installation, or other stabilization methods 

where appropriate or where required by the DEP 

10. street tree planting 

11. street sign installation 

12. monumentation for streets and lots 

13. final clean-up of the site 

 

3.7.7.3 Requests for inspections. The developer is responsible for contacting the 

inspecting engineer a minimum of two working days prior to requested 

inspections, and for maintaining communication with the engineer to ensure an 

efficient construction process.  

 

3.7.7.4 Failed inspections. If any deficiencies in construction are found by the inspecting 

engineer, the developer shall be notified in writing of the deficiencies and the 

required corrective measures within two working days, as well as verbally in 

person or by phone as soon after the inspection as possible. A copy of the 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 27 

written notice shall be submitted to the Director of Public Works, the Town 

Planner, and any other applicable Town department. 

 

3.7.7.5 Failure to receive inspection. If any required inspection is not performed due to 

negligence of any kind on the part of the developer (including but not limited to 

failure to notify the inspecting engineer in a timely fashion or continuation of 

work prior to a scheduled inspection), the Director of Public Works, with the 

advice of the inspecting engineer, reserves the right to require that the un-

inspected work be uncovered and inspected, or if feasible, that a third party 

testing company perform appropriate tests to determine the adequacy of the 

work prior to continuation of construction. Subdivision roadways and related 

infrastructure that do not pass all required inspections will not be recommended 

for acceptance until all deficiencies are corrected. 

 

3.7.8 Field Changes. If at any time before or during the construction of the required 

improvements the subdivider demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Director of Public 

Works that unforeseen conditions make it desirable to modify the design of such 

improvements, the Director of Public Works may, in consultation with the inspecting 

engineer and Town Planner, authorize modifications provided that they are within the 

spirit and intent of the Planning Board approval and do not constitute waiver or 

substantial alteration of the function of any improvements required by the Planning Board. 

The Director of Public Works shall issue any authorization under this section in writing, and 

shall transmit a copy of such authorization to the Town Planner and Planning Board. 

 

3.7.9 Damage. Any damage to existing public or private streets caused by the construction of 

the subdivision shall be repaired and paid for by the developer. The developer is 

responsible for documenting before and after conditions of these roads as proof for 

determining damage caused by their construction. Final release of any sureties shall not 

be made until any damage to local streets caused by the construction of the subdivision 

are repaired and pass inspection by the inspecting engineer and/or the Director of Public 

Works. 

 

3.7.10 Maintenance Responsibility. The developer is required to maintain all improvements, 

provide for snow removal on streets and sidewalks, and pay for any street lighting until 

acceptance of the improvements by the Town or control is placed with a lot owners’ 

association. 

 

3.7.11 Time For Completion of Improvements. All improvements must be completed within two 

years from the date of the approval of the Recording Plan, as recorded on the subdivision 

plat, with extensions to this deadline only as follows: the developer can, prior to the 

deadline, request in writing an extension which states the reasons for the request and a 

proposed extension timeframe. At its next available meeting, the Planning Board must 

consider the request and may grant it or deny it. In deliberating on the request, the Board 

should consider whether they believe the developer has been making progress in 

construction of the subdivision improvements. Failure to complete the improvements within 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 28 

the two year period, or as extended by the Board, will result in the Town declaring 

default and pursuing remedies through the improvement guarantee.  

 

3.7.12 End of Construction Season. In the event construction of the infrastructure is not completed 

before the end of the construction season, then the inspecting engineer must inspect the site 

for the adequacy of the stormwater and erosion control measures to adequately handle 

stormwater and prevent erosion and sedimentation through the non-construction season. 

The inspecting engineer must submit a written report on his/her findings and any 

recommended actions to address problems or potential problems to the Director of Public 

Works and the developer within 14 days of the inspection. If remedial actions are 

needed, the developer must implement them within 14 days of the date of the inspecting 

engineers report. The inspecting engineer must then re-inspect the site; this process is to 

continue until the site is in satisfactory condition to sit until the next construction season. 

 

3.7.13 As-Built Survey.  Upon completion of construction, the subdivider must present to the Town 

two copies of an as-built survey and digital files in a format suitable for import into the 

Town Geographic Information System (GIS). The as-built survey must include the seal of an 

engineer registered in the State of Maine, distances, angles, bearings, and elevations for 

complete and accurate determinations of locations on the ground of right-of-way 

monuments as set, as-built profiles of the centerlines of traveled ways, ledge elevations 

encountered during construction, and information on the locations, size, materials and 

elevations of all stormwater management components, sanitary sewer components, fire 

suppression facilities (e.g. dry hydrant or storage tank), and other underground utility 

lines, including but not limited to water, electric, and communication. Failure to submit the 

as-built survey will result in the Town denying any request for public acceptance of any 

infrastructure in the subdivision.  

 

3.7.14 Final Disposition. For roads designed with the intention of them becoming public ways, the 

process for acceptance by the Town is provided in the Town Ways Ordinance. For roads 

designed with the intention of them being private, final disposition is the responsibility of 

the developer.  

 

3.8 Submission Requirements  

 

3.8.1 Sketch Plan. 

3.8.1.1 The sketch plan does not have to be drawn to scale, and does not need to be 

more involved than a pencil sketch.  

3.8.1.2 The sketch plan must include the following information as applicable: 

1. applicant’s name and subdivision name 

2. date, north arrow, and (if used) the scale 

3. tax map and parcel number(s) of the tract being subdivided 

4. tract boundaries per the tax map or a survey 

5. the general layout of the proposed subdivision including streets, lots for 

development, and open spaces 

6. topography per USGS data, including rivers, streams, and ponds 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 29 

7. general location of various landcover types – wooded, field, wetland, rock 

outcrop, etc. 

8. general location of floodplain 

9. general location of any historic or archeological sites 

10. general location of existing structures 

11. existing easements or restrictions 

12. the location and size of water or sewer utilities to which connection is 

planned 

13. any potential sources of fire protection water supply within one-half mile of 

the site (public water system, existing fire ponds, other water sources). 

 

3.8.2 Recording Plan. This plan is to contain only that information which is relevant to the 

transfer of an interest in the property, including: 

3.8.2.1 The proposed name of the subdivision or identifying title.  

3.8.2.2 A vicinity map showing the location of the subdivision in relation to the 

surrounding area, at a scale sufficient to include recognizable intersections or 

landmarks (e.g. 1:1000 or 1:2000).  

3.8.2.3 The assessor’s map and lot number(s) for the tract. 

3.8.2.4 The names and addresses of the record owner, applicant, and individual or 

company who prepared the plan.  

3.8.2.5 The names of abutting property owners including those across a street or 

stream, as indicated in the town’s tax assessment data and no older than six 

months from the date of the initial submission of the minor subdivision plan or 

major preliminary subdivision plan. 

3.8.2.6 The date the plan was prepared, north point, and graphic map scale. 

3.8.2.7 Space for recording plan revision dates with notations on what the revisions 

were. 

3.8.2.8 The name, registration number, seal, and signature of the registered land 

surveyor who prepared the plan, and the date signed by the surveyor. 

3.8.2.9 The zoning district in which the proposed subdivision is located and the location 

of any zoning boundaries affecting the subdivision. 

3.8.2.10 A standard boundary survey of the tract, giving complete descriptive data by 

bearings and distances. 

3.8.2.11 The subdivision layout, with sufficient data to determine the location, bearing 

and length of every line on the ground, including:  

1. lots for development, with notation of the lot size in acres or square feet, 

and the lot number enclosed in a circle  

2. any existing or new easements, including notation on the purpose of the 

easement 

3. any stormwater buffers  

4. any new streets 

5. any lots for open space 

6. These lines shall be tied to previously established reference points.  

7. The type of monument found or to be set at each lot corner and change in 

direction of right-of-way lines must be indicated (e.g. granite or concrete 

post, iron pin, or drill hole in rock). 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 30 

3.8.2.12 The location of wetlands and vernal pools. 

3.8.2.13 Where connection to the public sewer system is not possible, the location of all 

soil test pits including an indication of which pits are suitable for the installation 

of a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

3.8.2.14 Suitable space for the Planning Board to record their approval which must 

include a signature block, space for the dates approved by and signed by the 

Board, and space for recording any conditions or other pertinent notations. 

3.8.2.15 If the street is to remain private, a notation must appear on the Recording Plan 

stating the road is private and will never be maintained or accepted by the 

Town of Hampden unless the roadway is improved to the road standards in the 

Subdivision Ordinance in effect at the time of application or request for public 

acceptance. 

 

3.8.3 Minor Subdivision Plan 

3.8.3.1 Application 

1. The application form, filled out completely and signed by both the 

applicant and owner of the tract being subdivided. 

2. A copy of the most recently recorded deed(s) for the tract. 

3. Existing and any proposed deed restrictions, easements, rights-of-way or 

other encumbrances. 

4. Wastewater treatment: 

a. If public sewer is available to serve the proposed lots, a written 

statement from the Director of Public Works that the Sewer District 

has the capacity to collect and treat the wastewater, or 

b. If public sewer is not available, subsurface wastewater test pit 

analyses for each lot, prepared by a Licensed Site Evaluator. 

5. Potable Water supply: 

a. If public water is available, a written statement from the Hampden 

Water District that there is adequate supply and pressure for the new 

lots, or 

b. If public water is not available, evidence of adequate ground water 

supply and quality for individual private wells for each lot by a well 

driller or a hydro geologist familiar with the area.  

6. A written statement from the Public Safety Department that water supply 

needs for fire protection have been adequately met. 

7. Agreements or other documents showing the manner in which any proposed 

open spaces are to be retained by the developer or lot owners. 

8. If open space or other land is to be offered to the municipality, written 

evidence that the municipal officers are satisfied with the legal sufficiency 

of the written offer to convey title. 

9. Cost of the proposed subdivision and evidence of financial capacity to 

complete the project. 

10. Written verification of right, title, or interest in the property. 

 

3.8.3.2 State and Federal Permits. Copies of the following applications and permits or 

approvals when applicable: 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 31 

1. Army Corps of Engineers if a permit under Section 404 of the Clean Water 

Act is required. 

2. Maine DEP, e.g. NRPA, MEPDES, Stormwater. 

3. Maine DOT Highway Entrance/Driveway Access Permits. 

4. Confirmation that the Maine Historic Preservation Office received a copy of 

the proposed plan and proof that any mitigation measures required have 

been met. 

 

3.8.3.3 Location Map. The location map is to be drawn at a scale of not more than 1-

inch equals 400-feet to show the proposed subdivision in relation to the 

surrounding area. The map is to show all areas within 1,000 feet of any 

property line of the proposed subdivision, including: 

1. Existing subdivisions in the proximity of the proposed subdivision. 

2. Locations and names of existing streets. 

3. Zoning boundaries and designations. 

4. Outline of the proposed subdivision and any contiguous land in common 

ownership with the owner of the proposed subdivision. 

 

3.8.3.4 Subdivision Plan.  

1. The plan is to be drawn at a scale of 1” = no more than 100’.  

2. The plan is to be an appropriate size to legibly show all information, no 

smaller than 11” by 17” and no larger than 36” by 48”. Multiple sheets 

are acceptable when necessary; an index sheet should be included when 

four or more sheets are used. 

3. The plan must show the entire tract being subdivided, including any 

“remaining” land. Tract boundaries that are not near the proposed new lots 

do not need to be surveyed, but need to be shown based on the most 

accurate information available (e.g. from the deed description). 

4. The proposed name of the subdivision or identifying title. 

5. The names and addresses of the record owner, applicant, and individual or 

company who prepared the plan. 

6. The date the plan was prepared, north point, and graphic map scale. 

7. Space for recording plan revision dates with notations on what the revisions 

were. 

8. Location and names of any existing public or private roads abutting the 

tract. 

9. Location of any existing buildings on the tract with a notation whether they 

are to remain or be removed. 

10. The subdivision layout, with sufficient data to determine the location, 

bearing and length of every line on the ground, including:  

a. lots for development, with notation of the lot size in acres or square 

feet, and the lot number enclosed in a circle  

b. any existing or proposed easements, including notation on the purpose 

of the easement 

c. any lots for proposed open spaces 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 32 

11. An indication of land cover, such as a tree line, a note stating the site is 

wooded or open field, etc.  

12. Boundaries of any flood hazard areas on the tract as depicted on the 

municipality’s Flood Insurance Rate Map. 

13. Location of any watercourses, wetlands, or other natural features on or 

adjacent to the tract. 

14. When public sewer is not available, the location of soil test pits (minimum 

one per lot) including an indication of which areas are suitable for the 

installation of a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

 

3.8.4 Major Subdivision Preliminary Plan. 

 

3.8.4.1 Application 

1. The application form, filled out completely and signed by both the 

applicant and owner of the tract being subdivided. 

2. A copy of the most recently recorded deed(s) for the tract. 

3. Existing and any proposed deed restrictions, easements, rights-of-way or 

other encumbrances. 

4. Any subdivision proposing a private street that will serve 5 or more lots 

must submit a draft of legal documents providing for the perpetual 

maintenance of the private street, including snow and ice removal. 

5. Wastewater treatment: 

a. If public sewer is available to serve the proposed lots, a written 

statement from the Director of Public Works that the Sewer District has 

the capacity to collect and treat the wastewater, or 

b. If public sewer is not available, subsurface wastewater test pit analyses 

for each lot, prepared by a Licensed Site Evaluator. 

6. Potable Water supply: 

a. If public water is available, a written statement from the Hampden 

Water District that there is adequate supply and pressure for the new 

lots, or 

b. If public water is not available, evidence of adequate ground water 

supply and quality for individual private wells for each lot by a well 

driller or a hydro geologist familiar with the area.  

7. A written statement from the Public Safety Department that water supply 

needs for fire protection have been adequately met. 

8. A written statement from the Public Works Director that the proposed 

subdivision will not cause an unreasonable burden on the town’s ability to 

dispose of solid waste. 

9. Agreements or other documents showing the manner in which any proposed 

open spaces are to be retained by the developer or lot owners. 

10. If open space or other land is to be offered to the municipality, written 

evidence that the municipal officers are satisfied with the legal sufficiency 

of the written offer to convey title. 

11. Cost of the proposed subdivision and evidence of financial capacity to 

complete the project. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 33 

12. Written verification of right, title, or interest in the property. 

13. The estimated trip generation of the subdivision, provided in average daily 

total volume, am peak hour volume, and pm peak hour volume. 

14. Homeowners Association (or similar type of organization responsible for 

any commonly held land or facilities) documents where applicable.  

15. Copy of any new easements to the Town or the Hampden Water District. 

 

3.8.4.2 State and Federal Permits or Approvals. Copies of the following applications 

and permits or approvals when applicable: 

1. Army Corps of Engineers if a permit under Section 404 of the Clean Water 

Act is required. 

2. Maine DEP, e.g. SLODA, NRPA, MEPDES, Stormwater. 

3. Maine DOT, e.g. Highway Entrance/Driveway Access or Traffic Movement. 

4. Maine DHS for public water system and/or engineered subsurface 

wastewater disposal system. 

5. Confirmation that the Maine Historic Preservation Office received a copy of 

the proposed plan and proof that any mitigation measures required have 

been met. 

 

3.8.4.3 Location Map. The location map is to be drawn at a scale of not more than 1-

inch equals 500-feet to show the proposed subdivision in relation to the 

surrounding area. The map is to show all areas within 2,000 feet of any 

property line of the proposed subdivision, including: 

1. Existing subdivisions in the proximity of the proposed subdivision. 

2. Locations and names of existing streets. 

3. Zoning boundaries and designations. 

4. Outline of the proposed subdivision and any contiguous land in common 

ownership with the owner of the proposed subdivision. 

 

3.8.4.4 Subdivision Plan 

1. The plan is to be drawn at a scale of 1” = no more than 100’. 

2. The plan is to be an appropriate size to legibly show all information, no 

smaller than 11” by 17” and no larger than 36” by 48”. Multiple sheets 

are acceptable when necessary; an index sheet should be included when 

four or more sheets are used. 

3. The plan must show the entire tract being subdivided, including any 

“remaining” land and including any abutting land in common ownership.  

4. The proposed name of the subdivision or identifying title. 

5. The names and addresses of the record owner, applicant, and individual or 

company who prepared the plan. 

6. The date the plan was prepared, north point, and graphic map scale. 

7. Space for recording plan revision dates with notations on what the revisions 

were. 

8. Acreage of the tract and (based on number of lots or units) the density of 

the proposed development. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 34 

9. Dimensional requirements for the lots per the Zoning Ordinance in effect at 

the time of application, plus the acreage of the tract within road rights-of-

way, other infrastructure or utility easements, open space, and the total 

acreage of the lots for development.  

10. Acreage of wetlands within the tract, plus the acreage of wetland impacts 

due to road or other infrastructure construction.  

11. Location and names of any existing public or private roads abutting the 

tract. 

12. Location and size of existing sewer, water, and stormwater management 

facilities on or adjacent to the tract, or to which connection is planned. 

13. Location of any existing buildings on the tract with a notation whether they 

are to remain or be removed. 

14. The subdivision layout, with sufficient data to determine the location, 

bearing and length of every line on the ground, including:  

a. lots for development, with notation of the lot size in acres or square 

feet, and the lot number enclosed in a circle  

b. any existing or proposed easements, including notation on the purpose 

of the easement 

c. any lots for proposed open spaces 

d. all rights-of-way  

15. The location, type, and size of trees over 12” DBH, an indication of land 

cover on the tract (such as a tree line, a note stating the site is wooded or 

open field, etc.), natural vegetation to be left in place, and any proposed 

landscaping.   

16. Boundaries of any flood hazard areas on the tract as depicted on the 

municipality’s Flood Insurance Rate Map. 

17. Location of any watercourses, wetlands, rock outcrops, or other natural 

features on or adjacent to the tract. 

18. When public sewer is not available, the location of soil test pits (minimum 

one per lot) including an indication of which areas are suitable for the 

installation of a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

19. The topography of the tract shown by contour lines at an interval of not 

more than 2’ in elevation, referenced to USGS datum. 

20. A phasing plan when the proposed subdivision is to be constructed in more 

than one phase.  

 

3.8.4.5 Infrastructure Design Plans. Detailed construction drawings showing a plan view, 

profile, and typical cross section of proposed street. The plan view shall be at a 

scale of 1” = no more than 40’. The vertical scale of the profile shall be 1” = no 

more than 4’. The plans shall include the following information: 

1. Width and location of all streets proposed by the developer, including 

edge of right of way, edge of pavement or traveled way, edge of 

shoulder, clear zone, sidewalks, and curbs. All applicable dimensions must 

be shown, such as lengths, deflection of angles, radii, central angles of all 

curves, tangent distances, and bearings. 

2. Typical street cross-sections specifying materials, thickness and crowning. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 35 

3. Complete curve data shall be indicated for all horizontal and vertical 

curves. 

4. Turning radii at all intersections. 

5. Centerline gradients. 

6. Traffic control devices, such as stop signs and cross walks. 

7. Location, size, type, and depth of all existing and proposed underground 

utilities, including but not limited to water, sewer, electric, and 

communication utilities, including appurtenant structures (e.g. valves, pumps, 

transformers). 

8. Location, size, and type of all proposed above ground utilities, including 

location of utility poles and street lights. 

9. Proposed locations of driveways. 

 

3.8.4.6 Stormwater Management Plan and Erosion & Sedimentation Control Plan 

1. Location, size, material, profile and cross-section of all existing and 

proposed drainage components and their location with respect to the 

existing natural waterways and proposed drainage ways. 

2. The direction of runoff flow through the use of arrows indicating the 

downgradient direction. 

3. Data, including grading and invert and rim elevations, and calculations 

prepared by a professional engineer licensed in the State of Maine 

showing compliance with Section 2.3.4, Stormwater Management. 

4. Low Impact Design. Each applicant is required to submit a statement to the 

Planning Board documenting proposed Low Impact Design (LID) for the site, 

which will help to reduce storm water volumes and help to enhance storm 

water quality. LID includes, but is not limited to green roofs, rain gardens, 

tree wells, infiltration basins, and permeable pavement. Technical 

documentation about the proposed LID features must also be submitted. For 

subdivisions where LID techniques will not improve the quality or reduce 

volumes, a statement explaining why that is the case must be submitted. 

5. For subdivisions that discharge stormwater into the town’s MS4 area, 

documentation to show compliance with Hampden’s Post-Construction 

Stormwater Management Ordinance, including the required Agreement.  

6. An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan prepared in accordance with the 

Maine Erosion and Sediment Control Handbook for Construction, Best 

Management Practices, published by the Maine DEP (2016 or as amended). 

 

3.8.4.7 Additional Information. The Planning Board may require additional information 

when it is determined necessary to meet the criteria of the State Subdivision 

Statute Title 30-A, M.R.S.A., section 4401, including: 

1. High Intensity Soil Survey by a Registered Soil Scientist. 

2. Hydrogeological assessment for a subdivision not served by sewer and if 

any part of the subdivision is over a sand and gravel aquifer. 

3. Hydrogeological assessment if the average density is more than one 

dwelling unit per 100,000 sq. ft. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 36 

4. Hydrogeological assessment if the Board determines potential adverse 

impacts on ground water quality. 

 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 37 

Article 4: Approval Criteria. Prior to granting approval for any subdivision, the Planning Board must make 

findings that each of the following criteria have been met. The burden of proof of compliance with 

each of these criteria rests with the applicant. These criteria are as required in Title 30-A M.R.S.A 

§4404, with the exception of §4.22, Private Streets.  

4.1 Pollution. The proposed subdivision will not result in undue water or air pollution, considering at 

minimum the elevation of the land above sea level and its relation to the floodplain, the nature of 

the soils and subsoils and their ability to adequately support waste disposal, the slope of the land 

and its effect on effluents, the availability of streams for the disposal of effluents, and the 

applicable local and state health and water resources rules and regulations. 

 

4.2 Sufficient Water. The proposed subdivision has sufficient water available as determined by the 

Hampden Water District and the Hampden Public Safety Department for the reasonably 

foreseeable needs of the subdivision. 

 

4.3 Municipal Water Supply. The proposed subdivision will not cause an unreasonable burden on an 

existing water supply, if one is to be used.  

 

4.4 Erosion. The proposed subdivision will not cause unreasonable soil erosion or a reduction in the 

land's capacity to hold water so that a dangerous or unhealthy condition results. 

 

4.5 Traffic. The proposed subdivision will not cause unreasonable congestion or unsafe conditions with 

respect to the use of existing or proposed highways or public roads and, if the proposed 

subdivision requires driveways or entrances onto a state or state aid highway located outside the 

urban compact area of an urban compact municipality, the Department of Transportation has 

provided documentation indicating that the driveways or entrances conform to Title 23, section 

704 and any rules adopted under that section. 

 

4.6 Sewage Disposal. The proposed subdivision will provide for adequate sewage waste disposal 

and will not cause an unreasonable burden on municipal services if they are utilized. 

 

4.7 Municipal Solid Waste Disposal. The proposed subdivision will not cause an unreasonable burden 

on the municipality’s ability to dispose of solid waste if municipal services are to be utilized. 

 

4.8 Aesthetic, Cultural, and Natural Values. The proposed subdivision will not have an undue adverse 

effect on the scenic or natural beauty of the area, aesthetics, historic sites, significant wildlife 

habitat identified by the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife or the municipality, or rare 

and irreplaceable natural areas or any public rights for physical or visual access to the shoreline. 

 

4.9 Conformity With Local Ordinances and Plans. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the 

Hampden Subdivision Ordinance, the Hampden Comprehensive Plan, the Hampden Zoning 

Ordinance, and where applicable the Hampden Shoreland Zoning Ordinance and the Hampden 

Floodplain Management Ordinance. In making this determination, the Planning Board may 

interpret these ordinances and plans. 

 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 38 

4.10 Financial and Technical Capacity. The applicant/developer has adequate financial and technical 

capacity to meet the standards of this Ordinance. 

 

4.11 Surface Waters and Outstanding River Segments. The proposed subdivision, if situated entirely or 

partially within the watershed of any pond or lake or within the Shoreland Zone (i.e. within 250 

feet of any wetland, great pond, or river as defined in Title 38, chapter 3, subchapter I, article 2-

B), the proposed subdivision will not adversely affect the quality of that body of water or 

unreasonably affect the shoreline of that body of water. When lots in a subdivision have frontage 

on the Penobscot River (an outstanding river segment), the proposed subdivision plan must require 

principal structures to have a combined lot shore frontage and setback from the normal high-water 

mark of 500 feet. To avoid circumventing the intent of this provision, whenever a proposed 

subdivision adjoins a shoreland strip narrower than 250 feet which is not included in the lots, the 

proposed subdivision will be reviewed as if lot lines extended to the shore. The frontage and 

setback provisions of this paragraph do not apply either within areas zoned as General 

Development under Hampden’s Shoreland Zoning Ordinance, or within areas designated by 

ordinance as densely developed. The determination of which areas are densely developed must 

be based on a finding that existing development predated September 23, 1971.  

 

4.12 Ground Water. The proposed subdivision will not, alone or in conjunction with existing activities, 

adversely affect the quality or quantity of ground water. 

 

4.13 Flood Areas. The proposed subdivision, if all or a portion of it is located within a flood hazard 

area based on the Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) Flood Boundary and 

Floodway Maps and Flood Insurance Rate Maps, supplemented with information presented by the 

applicant where necessary, must include a notation on the recording plan stating that the principal 

structures on any lot so affected must be constructed with their lowest floor, including the basement, 

at least one foot above the 100-year flood elevation. Where FEMA maps and data are 

insufficient for making an accurate determination of the flood elevation, the applicant must 

determine the 100-year flood elevation and flood hazard boundaries within the subdivision. 

 

4.14 Freshwater Wetlands. All freshwater wetlands within the proposed subdivision have been 

identified on any maps submitted as part of the application, regardless of the size of these 

wetlands. Any mapping of freshwater wetlands may be done with the help of the local soil and 

water conservation district. 

 

4.15 Farmland. All farmland within the proposed subdivision has been identified on maps submitted as 

part of the application. Any mapping of farmland may be done with the help of the local soil and 

water conservation district. 

 

4.16 River, Stream, or Brook. Any river, stream or brook within or abutting the proposed subdivision has 

been identified on any maps submitted as part of the application. For purposes of this section, 

"river, stream or brook" has the same meaning as in Title 38, section 480-B, subsection 9. 

 

4.17 Stormwater Management. The application demonstrates that the proposed site improvements are 

designed to minimize the amount of stormwater leaving the site and the stormwater management 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 39 

system is designed to accommodate the design storm without impairing the upgradient or 

downgradient conditions. 

 

4.18 Spaghetti Lots Prohibited. If any lots in the proposed subdivision have shore frontage on a river, 

stream, brook, great pond or coastal wetland as these features are defined in Title 38, section 

480-B, none of the lots created within the subdivision have a lot depth to shore frontage ratio 

greater than 5 to 1. 

 

4.19 Lake Phosphorus Concentration. The long-term cumulative effects of the proposed subdivision will 

not unreasonably increase a great pond's phosphorus concentration during the construction phase 

and life of the proposed subdivision. 

 

4.20 Impact on Adjoining Municipality. For any proposed subdivision that crosses municipal boundaries, 

the proposed subdivision will not cause unreasonable traffic congestion or unsafe conditions with 

respect to the use of existing public ways in an adjoining municipality in which part of the 

subdivision is located. 

 

4.21 Lands Subject to Liquidation Harvesting. Any timber harvested on the proposed subdivision tract 

has been done in compliance with rules adopted pursuant to Title 12, section 8869, subsection 14. 

If a violation of rules adopted by the Maine Forest Service to substantially eliminate liquidation 

harvesting has occurred, the Planning Board must determine prior to granting approval for the 

subdivision that 5 years have elapsed from the date the landowner under whose ownership the 

harvest occurred acquired the parcel. "Liquidation harvesting" means the purchase of timberland 

followed by a harvest that removes most or all commercial value in standing timber, without 

regard for long-term forest management principles, and the subsequent sale or attempted resale 

of the harvested land within 5 years, and "parcel" means a contiguous area within the town owned 

by one person or a group of persons in common or joint ownership. 

 

4.22 Private Streets. Any subdivision with a road that is designed to the standards herein for private 

streets must comply with the following criteria: 

 

4.22.1 The private street must connect directly to a public road. 

4.22.2 The private street must be entirely on the applicant’s tract, although it can provide access 

to abutting properties. 

4.22.3 The applicant must prepare an easement document which runs with the land which: 

4.22.3.1 Must be  recorded at the Registry of Deeds and referenced in every deed to 

each affected property; 

4.22.3.2 Covers the entire right-of-way; 

4.22.3.3 Includes provisions for the permanent ownership and maintenance (including 

snow and ice removal) of the private street; 

4.22.3.4 Includes language stating the owners of abutting properties that must rely on 

the private street as their primary access to their property have the right to 

grant authorization for any future development beyond that proposed to use 

the private street that will intensify or alter the use of the right-of-way.  

4.22.3.5 Includes language stating the road is private and will never be maintained or 

accepted by the Town of Hampden unless the roadway is improved to the road 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 40 

standards in the Subdivision Ordinance in effect at the time of application or 

request for public acceptance. 

4.22.3.6 Includes language authorizing use by any public safety personnel from any such 

agency (local, state, or federal), and that the owners of the private road will 

hold any such agency harmless for any damage their vehicles may cause in the 

course of their business.  

4.22.4 When a property owners association or similar organization is to be the owner of the 

private street, it: 

4.22.4.1 Must be formed by the applicant or developer and be operating, with financial 

subsidization if necessary by the applicant or developer, before the sale or 

lease of any lot or unit within the subdivision. 

4.22.4.2 Must have mandatory membership of every property owner within the 

subdivision. 

4.22.4.3 Establish written procedures for equitably distributing the cost burden among 

the property owners. 

4.22.4.4 Is responsible for insurance, as needed, in addition to all repairs and 

maintenance of the roadway. 

4.22.5 Expansion, reconstruction, or other major alteration of a private street that was in 

existence in a subdivision recorded prior to July 6, 2016 must comply with the design 

standards and this §4.22 of the Subdivision Ordinance in effect at the time of such road 

reconstruction.  

 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 41 

Article 5: Waivers 

5.1 Waiver Request. Any waiver request must be submitted in a letter signed by the applicant or his 

representative and included with the application. The Planning Board should consider the impact 

on public policy for each waiver request it considers. 

5.2 Waiver from Design Standards. The Planning Board may, by two-thirds of Board members 

eligible to act on the subdivision application, vote to grant a waiver to any of the design 

standards of this Ordinance when it finds that the need for the requested waiver is due to the 

unique circumstances of the property, provided: 

5.2.1 The developer has submitted clear and convincing documentation explaining:  

5.2.1.1 that the waiver requested is necessary and appropriate for the proposed 

subdivision;  

5.2.1.2 that a modification in the design of the subdivision would not alleviate the need 

for the requested waiver; and 

5.2.1.3 what the ramifications would be of not obtaining the waiver on the design and 

functionality of the subdivision. 

5.2.2 The Planning Board has received written statements from the appropriate Town 

departments that address the possible effects or impacts of the requested waiver on the 

public health, safety, and welfare; and 

5.2.3 Such waiver will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of the Subdivision 

Ordinance, Zoning Ordinance, Comprehensive Plan, or other applicable ordinances of the 

Town of Hampden. 

5.3 Waiver from Submission Requirements. The Planning Board may, by a vote of a simple majority, 

waive submission requirements of this Ordinance for major subdivisions that they determine are not 

necessary for making a decision on the proposed subdivision. Such waivers must be requested by 

the applicant in writing at the sketch plan phase. In cases where a submission requirement is not 

applicable to the subdivision, a formal waiver request is not required. None of the submission 

requirements for a minor subdivision are eligible for a waiver.  

5.4 Waivers Recorded. When the Planning Board grants a waiver to any of the design standards 

required by this ordinance, the Board Order and the recording plan must indicate the waivers 

granted and the date on which they were granted. 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 42 

 

Article 6: Enforcement.  

6.1 The Planning Board, with the assistance of the Code Enforcement Officer and the Town Manager, 

will enforce this Ordinance.  

6.2 The Planning Board, the Town Council, or the Code Enforcement Officer may institute proceedings 

to enjoin any violations of this Ordinance, and if a violation is found in court, the Town of 

Hampden may be allowed attorney fees. 

6.3 Any person, firm, or corporation or other legal entity found guilty of a violation of this Ordinance 

shall be punished in accordance with the provisions of Title 30-A M.R.S.A., §4452. 

 

 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 43 

Article 7: Definitions 

Words and terms used in this ordinance shall have the meanings set forth below. Words and terms, which 

are not defined herein but are defined in the Zoning Ordinance, have the meanings set forth in the Zoning 

Ordinance. Words and terms, which are not defined herein or in the Zoning Ordinance, have their 

customary dictionary meanings in the Merriam-Webster print or online dictionary. 

Applicant – the person or entity that has filed an application for subdivision approval, up until the time the 

recording plan is approved by the Planning Board. After that date, the person or entity is known 

as the developer. 

Arterial Street – A street designed to carry large volumes of traffic. Per Maine Department of 

Transportation the following streets in Hampden are classified as arterials: Route 1A from the 

Winterport line to the Bangor line, Route 202 from Western Ave to the Bangor line, and Western 

Ave from Main Road South to the intersection with Route 202 and the Hampden Academy 

entrance.  

Average Daily Traffic (ADT) – The average number of vehicles passing a given point on a roadway during 

a 24 hour period. Normally calculated using a multi-day count.  

Code Enforcement Officer – the person employed by the Town of Hampden holding the title of Code 

Enforcement Officer, or any qualified person or company designated by the Town Manager to 

serve in that capacity. 

Cluster Subdivision – A subdivision which is designed according to the provisions of Section 4.6, Cluster 

Housing, of the Zoning Ordinance.  

Design Storm – A storm with a prescribed duration and frequency or recurrence interval based on DEP 

requirements for the permitting level required (Stormwater Law or SLODA).  

Developer – the person or entity that is constructing the subdivision infrastructure or selling the lots within 

the approved subdivision. Prior to the date of approval of the recording plan by the Planning 

Board, the person or entity is known as the applicant. 

DPW Director – the person employed by the Town of Hampden holding the title of Department of Public 

Works Director, or any qualified person or company designated by the Town Manager to serve in 

that capacity. 

Freshwater Wetland – "Freshwater wetland" means freshwater swamps, marshes, bogs and similar areas 

which are: inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and for a duration 

sufficient to support, and which under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of wetland 

vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soils; and are not considered part of a great 

pond, coastal wetland, river, stream or brook. These areas may contain small stream channels or 

inclusions of land that do not conform to these criteria. 

Full Buildout – includes all construction including the roadway and other infrastructure, community buildings, 

parking lots, driveways, and houses. Accessory buildings such as sheds do not need to be included 

provided they are less than 200 square feet in size (e.g. an accessory detached garage that is 

12’x20’ would be included if it is planned to be constructed when the house is built).  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 44 

Lane – a roadway designed to serve the local traffic for no more than 25 housing units (or lots for single 

family houses). 

Major Subdivision – A major subdivision is: 

1. A standard subdivision which involves no new infrastructure but which has 11 or more lots 

including the parent parcel, or 

2. A standard subdivision which involves new infrastructure regardless of intended ownership 

of the infrastructure (public or private) which has any number of lots, or 

3. Any cluster subdivision, or 

4. Any nonresidential subdivision. 

Minor Subdivision – a standard subdivision which involves no new infrastructure (road, water, sewer, or 

stormwater management system), with a maximum of 10 lots including the parent parcel. 

MS4 Area – The area of Hampden subject to the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System General Permit, 

which is the summation of the Urbanized Areas (UA) as defined in each of the decennial censuses 

beginning with the 2000 census by the U.S. Bureau of the Census (i.e. the 2000 UA + 2010 UA + 

2020 UA). 

Net Useable Area – The total area of a lot minus the area of wetlands, streams (perennial or intermittent), 

or areas designated as stormwater detention facilities. 

Nonresidential Street – a roadway designed to serve the needs of any commercial, industrial, institutional, 

or other nonresidential use, with any number of such uses or lots being served. 

Off-site Run-on – water or stormwater that enters the proposed subdivision tract from up-gradient.  

Parent Parcel – the tract proposed to be subdivided. 

Pre-development – the condition of the tract prior to any land clearing or other preparation for 

development of the subdivision.  

Post-development – the condition of the tract after full buildout of the project. 

Pump Station – Any device intended and designed for the purpose of transporting, pumping or lifting of 

sanitary sewage from residences, nonresidential buildings, or central collection points to the 

municipal sanitary sewer system.  This shall not include lift pumps used in self-contained, on-site 

subsurface disposal systems. 

Standard Subdivision – A subdivision which is not a cluster housing development and complies with the 

standard dimensional requirements of Section 3.4 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Stormwater Component – The individual parts of the stormwater system, including but not limited to 

conveyance pipes, ditches, catch basins, field basins, detention or retention ponds, stormwater 

buffers, and low impact development practices. 

Stormwater System – The entirety of the management system for the entire subdivision. 

Street – a roadway designed to serve the traffic needs for more than 25 housing units (or lots for single 

family houses). 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 45 

Subdivision – This term is as defined in Title 30-A M.R.S.A. §4401, sub-§4, as amended. A lot of 40 acres 

or more is not counted as a lot provided the parent parcel is located entirely outside of the 

Shoreland Zone as defined in the Hampden Shoreland Zoning Ordinance. Appendix B includes a 

description of what constitutes a subdivision but the actual definition is as in Statute.  

Tract – All contiguous land in the same ownership, provided that lands located on opposite sides of a 

public or private road are considered each a separate tract or parcel of land unless the road was 

established by the owner of land on both sides of the road after September 22, 1971. 

Town Planner – the person employed by the Town of Hampden holding the title of Town Planner, or any 

qualified person or company designated by the Town Manager to serve in that capacity. 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 46 

Appendix A – typical cross sections for roadways 

 

  



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 47 

Appendix B – What constitutes a Subdivision 

The basics: 

 The division of a tract or parcel of land into 3 or more lots within any 5 year period. 

 The division of an existing structure (regardless of whether previously used for residential, 

commercial, or industrial purposes) into 3 or more dwelling units within any 5 year period. 

 The construction of a new structure with 3 or more dwelling units. 

 The construction of or placement of 3 or more dwelling units on a single tract or parcel of land 

within a 5 year period. 

 The first division creates the first 2 lots, and the second division, regardless of which of the first 2 

lots is divided and regardless of who divides it, creates the third lot.  

However, the following situations result in the division NOT being considered a subdivision under the law. In 

each case, the division of a structure into dwelling units also applies. 

 When the owner of the tract or parcel has, for the 5 years preceding the division, lived in a single 

family house (principal residence) on the property being divided and creates 2 new lots but 

continues to live in the house on the property. The two divisions can occur at separate times; if so, 

the 5 year period is preceding the second division. 

 Any newly created parcel containing a minimum of 40 acres is not counted as a lot. For example, 

a 100 acre tract divided into one 40 acre lot and two 30 acre lots is not a subdivision under the 

law, but a 100 acre tract divided into one 40 acre lot and three 20 acre lots is a subdivision 

under the law.  

 A division accomplished by the following, unless the purpose of the subdivider is to avoid the 

objectives of the Subdivision Ordinance:   

o devise (will and testament). 

o condemnation. 

o court order. 

o gift to a person related to the donor (spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or 

grandchild related by blood, marriage or adoption), provided: 

 The donor owned the property for a minimum of 5 years prior to the gifting; 

 The gifted lot is not sold to an unrelated person within 5 years after the gifting (if 

it is, the lot is no longer exempt); and 

 The assessed value of the real estate of the gifted lot is no more than one-half the 

assessed value of the parent parcel. 

o gift to the town. 

o the transfer of land to one or more abutting landowners to be merged with their land, 

provided the transferred land is not then transferred without the entire merged land within 

5 years (if it is, the transferred land is no longer exempt). 

 The tract has permanent dwelling structures which legally existed prior to September 23, 1971 

and is divided such that each dwelling is on its own lot.  

 The grant of a bona fide security interest in an entire lot that has been exempted from subdivision 

review does not create a lot, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of the 

Subdivision Ordinance. 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 48 

The definition in Statute, as of August 2019 (without historical references): 

"Subdivision" means the division of a tract or parcel of land into 3 or more lots within any 5-year period 

that begins on or after September 23, 1971. This definition applies whether the division is accomplished 

by sale, lease, development, buildings or otherwise. The term "subdivision" also includes the division of a 

new structure or structures on a tract or parcel of land into 3 or more dwelling units within a 5-year period, 

the construction or placement of 3 or more dwelling units on a single tract or parcel of land and the 

division of an existing structure or structures previously used for commercial or industrial use into 3 or more 

dwelling units within a 5-year period.  

A. In determining whether a tract or parcel of land is divided into 3 or more lots, the first dividing of the 

tract or parcel is considered to create the first 2 lots and the next dividing of either of these first 2 

lots, by whomever accomplished, is considered to create a 3rd lot, unless:  

(1) Both dividings are accomplished by a subdivider who has retained one of the lots for the 

subdivider's own use as a single-family residence that has been the subdivider's principal 

residence for a period of at least 5 years immediately preceding the 2nd division; or  

(2) The division of the tract or parcel is otherwise exempt under this subchapter.  

B. The dividing of a tract or parcel of land and the lot or lots so made, which dividing or lots when made 

are not subject to this subchapter, do not become subject to this subchapter by the subsequent dividing 

of that tract or parcel of land or any portion of that tract or parcel. The municipal reviewing authority 

shall consider the existence of the previously created lot or lots in reviewing a proposed subdivision 

created by a subsequent dividing.  

C. A lot of 40 or more acres must be counted as a lot, except when a municipality has, by ordinance, or 

the municipal reviewing authority has, by regulation, elected not to count lots of 40 or more acres as 

lots for the purposes of this subchapter when the parcel of land being divided is located entirely 

outside any shoreland area as defined in Title 38, section 435 or a municipality's shoreland zoning 

ordinance.  

D. [repealed] 

D-1. A division accomplished by devise does not create a lot or lots for the purposes of this definition, 

unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of this subchapter.  

D-2. A division accomplished by condemnation does not create a lot or lots for the purposes of this 

definition, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of this subchapter.  

D-3. A division accomplished by order of court does not create a lot or lots for the purposes of this 

definition, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of this subchapter.  

D-4. A division accomplished by gift to a person related to the donor of an interest in property held by the 

donor for a continuous period of 5 years prior to the division by gift does not create a lot or lots for 

the purposes of this definition, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of this 

subchapter. If the real estate exempt under this paragraph is transferred within 5 years to another 

person not related to the donor of the exempt real estate as provided in this paragraph, then the 

previously exempt division creates a lot or lots for the purposes of this subsection. "Person related to 



Hampden Subdivision Ordinance For Public Hearing DRAFT v11 – 10/20/2020 
 
 

 

 
 49 

the donor" means a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild related by blood, 

marriage or adoption. A gift under this paragraph cannot be given for consideration that is more than 

1/2 the assessed value of the real estate. 

D-5. A division accomplished by a gift to a municipality if that municipality accepts the gift does not create 

a lot or lots for the purposes of this definition, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the 

objectives of this subchapter.  

D-6. A division accomplished by the transfer of any interest in land to the owners of land abutting that 

land does not create a lot or lots for the purposes of this definition, unless the intent of the transferor is 

to avoid the objectives of this subchapter. If the real estate exempt under this paragraph is 

transferred within 5 years to another person without all of the merged land, then the previously 

exempt division creates a lot or lots for the purposes of this subsection. 

E. The division of a tract or parcel of land into 3 or more lots and upon each of which lots permanent 

dwelling structures legally existed before September 23, 1971 is not a subdivision.  

F. In determining the number of dwelling units in a structure, the provisions of this subsection regarding the 

determination of the number of lots apply, including exemptions from the definition of a subdivision of 

land.  

G.  [repealed] 

H. [repealed] 

H-1.  [repealed] 

H-2. This subchapter may not be construed to prevent a municipality from enacting an ordinance under its 

home rule authority that otherwise regulates land use activities.  

A municipality may not enact an ordinance that expands the definition of "subdivision" except as 

provided in this subchapter. A municipality that has a definition of "subdivision" that conflicts with the 

requirements of this subsection at the time this paragraph takes effect shall comply with this subsection 

no later than January 1, 2019. Such a municipality must file its conflicting definition at the county 

registry of deeds by June 30, 2018 for the definition to remain valid for the grace period ending 

January 1, 2019. A filing required under this paragraph must be collected and indexed in a separate 

book in the registry of deeds for the county in which the municipality is located.  

I. The grant of a bona fide security interest in an entire lot that has been exempted from the definition 

of subdivision under paragraphs D-1 to D-6, or subsequent transfer of that entire lot by the original 

holder of the security interest or that person's successor in interest, does not create a lot for the 

purposes of this definition, unless the intent of the transferor is to avoid the objectives of this 

subchapter.  



Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 

To: Hampden Town Council 
From: Ryan M. Carey, CEO 
Date: 01/06/2021 
RE: Habitability Standards 

Memorandum 

Phone: (207) 862-8427 
Fax: (207) 862·5067 
email: Code@hampdenmalne.gov 

The Town of Hampden currently has a number of buildings that are unfit for human habitation. 
The only mechanism the town has to deal with these properties is the State of Maine Dangerous 
Buildings statute (MRS, Title 17 §2851 ). This statute has been historically difficult to utilize 
especially in municipalities lacking a related local ordinance. 

In early 2020 the Town considered adopting a property maintenance ordinance. It was the 
opinion of the council that such an ordinance was too far-reaching and not a palatable 
enforcement tool. Presented before you is a proposed habitability standard. This amendment is 
designed to address the issues at hand, without encroaching on a citizen's rights. 

Thank you, 

Ryan M. Carey 

E-2-b

























TO: 
FROM: 
DATE: 
RE: 

Memorandum 

Town Council 
Paula Scott, Town Manager 

January 28, 2021 
Acceptance of a private hydrant 

During the week of January 4th
, Mr. Ouellette of Oak Knoll Condo Association came to 

see me at the town office to follow up on a letter he sent in April of last year. 
(Unfortunately, and apparently due to the shut down of the town office during the 
beginning of covid, I did not receive the letter.) The letter was requesting that the Town 
of Hampden assume the private hydrant located on Victoria Way, a private road within 
the development. 

In researching whether or not this is something that town's typically do, I reached out to 
the Water District, as well as researched Planning Board requirements in 2000 which is 
when the development was built. Jamie Holyoke provided me a copy of basically the 
same letter which was sent to the Water District in August of 2017 and the minutes to 
the Board meeting at which the District took no action to do so. I also found a copy of the 
same letter written to the Planning Department in 2017, minutes from the Planning 
Board approving the development due to all conditions being met, and a page from the 
Subdivision Ordinance in effect when the development was approved. At that time, the 
Subdivision Ordinance stated that the Fire Chief must give approval of hydrants and a 
letter from the Town Manager would have to indicate the Town's willingness to pay 
rental charges (Public Fire Protection charges) for the hydrant. I could find no indication 
that this was ever done. Had it been done at the time, this hydrant would already be in 
the Water Districts inventory, and we would already be paying for it. I reached out to 
mentor managers through the list serve who cautioned about the Town setting a 
precedence for assuming private hydrants, since we would be the ones ultimately paying 
for them. 

I subsequently reached out to the Town Planner and asked if in her experience she had 
ever seen a requirement such as this removed after the fact. She stated that the 
developer would have to make application to the Planning Board to amend the approved 
subdivision to remove the hydrant requirement. This would allow the hydrant to be 
actually removed from the lot. I wrote a letter to Mr. Ouellette denying the assumption of 
this hydrant, but also indicated that he could make a request to the Town Council. Mr. 
Ouellette has requested this be placed on tonight's agenda for consideration. 

H-a



do�o 

Hampden Town Manager and City Council 
106 Western Ave 
Hampden. ME 04444 

RE: Cost of Hydrant 7 Victoria Wai/ 

Donald Ouellette, President 
Oak Knoll Village Condo Assn. 
3 VICtoria Way 
Hampden. ME 04444 

April \2020 

It is our understanding that when Oak KnoD Village was built, the developer was 
mandated to have a hydrant plaeed m the personal properly. As far as we know. 
there were no specific guidelines or bUilding code pertaining to this type of requirement 
at that time. So the Developer agreed to have this down knowing that he would never 
have to pay for due to turning the properties to an assciation. This hydrant is located in 
front of condo #7 on their front lawn. 

The Officers of the Oak Knoll Condominiums Association are asking the Hampden 
water District to take over the oost of this water hydrant located on the property. Our 
quatterly payment is $358.50, totaling to a yea'1y cost of $1434.00. This cost is now 
creating a hardship for the residents t>eeause their expenses are continuously 
increasing iWld the majority are retired and living on social security. 

Our personal fire insurance premiums are not any less. despite the close proximity c:I 
this hydrant beeaUse there is another hydrant lesS than 100 feet from our first unit. This 
one is located on the comer of Route 9 and Sydney Blvd. 

The town has approximatei-,, al average of 1500 feet between each hydrant in the 
community. having some residents at a mid range of 750' from a hydrant. There is one 
hydrant alkx:ated for many. many dwellings. with one exception, We have one hydrant 
for 6 buildings and ea9f aooess to another hydrant down the street It is about 100 
feet from our first condo and 350 feet from the last condo. 

Our buildings are 15 years old and costs of property maintenance/ replacements/ 
repai's are rising rapidly, much more then initiall-J anticipated. We had a reality check 
last month when v.e riad the street and driveways repaved, We need to ensure that 
there will be enough monies for future expenses, therefore we are attempting to 
minimiZe our expenses without raising the condo fees for the upcoming year. 



we do � the importa, 1ee of the hydrants a.mnt location to both, the 
fire department aid water distJ ict. AlsO, the water District has an easement on 
the Association's property and this is not a problem for us either. 

1 greatty appreciate yotW time and conside,ation to this request. The teSidents 
would be voy gatetul should you decide to take over the cost of the hydaant oo 
cu property, Please feel free 10 contact me (745--4801) should you want to 
share yourthoughts and/at have art/ questions for clarification. 

Also I would like to mention that we have 5 duplex and one signal unit. Between 
the units and association we � around $35.000.00 in proper1Y taxes !yearly 

SincerefY, 

Donald Ouellette. President 
Qak KnoU VIiiage Condominium Association 



-

-
•

• r 
L 

i _J_ �---- . =====_==�=� .. ==-=-==--=m=�:=-=--=--=--=--=---=---- r•�--t---- q 
•-

I_ 



Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 

January 19, 2021 

Donald Ouellette, President 

Oak Knoll Village Condo Association 

3 Victoria Way 

Hampden, Me. 04444 

Dear Mr. Ouellette, 

Phone; (207) 862-3034 
Fax: (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

This letter is in response to your inquiry regarding private hydrant located on Victoria Way. Although there 

are two hydrants in close proximity, this hydrant was a Planning Board requirement at the time of 

development. 

In speaking with the Water District, I was provided information from a meeting held on August 24th, 2017 

at which the Board of Trustees voted not to assume the hydrant after your organization requested it of 

them. Their reasoning was the belief that the charge of $32.50 per resident (at that time) was insignificant 

compared to the savings on homeowner's insurance. While I understand your concerns with regard to 

rising costs and your indication that insurance premiums are not any less than they would be without it, it 

is still a benefit to have a hydrant in such close proximity. 

Unfortunately, the Town of Hampden cannot assume the financial responsibility for this hydrant as it 

would set a precedent for other private developments to request the same and that is not a precedent we 

would like to set. 

I did speak to the Town Planner who stated that the original developer could make application to the 

Planning Board to request an amendment to an approved subdivision which amendment would be the 

removal of the hydrant. If you have a means of contacting the original developer, that might be your best 

option. The only other option would be to petition the Town Council at a Council meeting. 

Sincerely, 

q(UdLa� 
Paula A. Scott, 

Town Manager 

cc: file 



Hampden water District 
140 Main Rd North 
PO Box 218 
Hampden, ME 04444 

ATTN: Superintendent and Board of Directors 

RE: Cost of fHydrant 7 Victoria Way 

Donald OueUette, President 
Oak Knoll Village Condo Assn. 
3 Victoria Way 
Hampden, ME 04444 

August 4, 2017 

It is our understanding that when Oak Knoll Village was built, the developer was 
mandated to have a hydrant placed on the personal property. As far as we 
know, there were no specific guidelines or building code pertaining to this type 
of requirement at that time. This hydrant Is located in front of condo #7 on their 
front lawn. 

The Officers of the Oak Knoll Condominiums Association are asking the 
Hampden Water District to take over the cost of this water hydrant located on 
the property. Our quarterly payment is $358.50, totaling to a yearly cost of 
$1434.00. This cost is now creating a hardship for the residents because their 
expenses are continuously increasing and the majority are retired and living on 
social security. 

Our personal fire insurance premiums are not any less, despite the close 
proximity of this hydrant because there is another hydrant less than 100 feet 
from our first unit. This one is located on the corner of Route 9 and Sydney Blvd. 

The town has approximately an average of 1500 feet between each hydrant in 
the community, having some residents at a mid range of 750' from a hydrant. 
There is one hydrant allocated for many, many dwellings, with one exception, 
We have one hydrant for 6 buildings and easy access to another hydrant down 
the street. It is about 100 feet from our first condo and 350 feet from the last 
condo. 

Our buildings are 15 years old and costs of property maintenance I
replacements/ repairs are rising rapidly, much more then initially anticipated. 



- _,. ___,,,__ ___ _

We had a reality check last month when we had the street and driveways 
repaved, We need to ensure that there will be enough monies for future 
expenses, therefore we are attempting to minimize our expenses without raising 
the condo fees for the upcoming year. 

We do understand the importance of the hydrant's current location to both, the 
fire department and water district. Also, the Water District has an easement on 
the Association's property and this is not a problem for us either. 

I greatly appreciate your time and consideration to this request. The residents 
would be very grateful should you decide to take over the cost of the hydrant on 
our property, Please feel free to contact me (7 45--4801) should you want to 
share your thoughts and/or have any questions for clarification. 

Sincerely, 

Donald Quellette, President 
Qak Knoll Village Condominium Association 



3) Ryan Francis motioned to move money from the Katahdin Trust ICS account to CDAR accounts as
allocated in option 4;

1 year CDRs
• $50,000 12 months @1.0% 

• $50,000 12 months @1.0% 

2 year CDRs 

• $50,000 24 Months @l.2% 

• $50,000 24 Months @1.2% 

• $100,000 24 months @l.2% 

• $100,000 24 months @1.2% 

• $100,000 24 months @1.2% 

Shane Sargent 2nd
, motion passed unanimously. 

4) Lauren Swalec motioned to purchase the 2018 Subaru Forester for $23,705 as recommended by Jamie
Holyoke. Ryan Francis 2nd

, motion passed unanimously.

S) Jamie Holyoke informed the board that Gardner Construction has contacted the homeowner of I 8
Schoolhouse Lane and will rectify the issue involving the broken sewer line.

6) The board, as a measure of good faith, has decided to contribute $2,000.00 towards repaving the Hopkins
Road, due to settlement of a patch originating from a waterline break.

New Business:

1) The board was provided with a letter from Don Ouellette, President of the Oak Knoll Condominiums
Association requesting the district assume the cost of the private fire hydrant located on their property. The
board felt the actual breakdown of the hydrant fee of$32.50 per month per Oak Knoll resident was
insignificant considering the availability of fire protection, as well as a reduction on their homeowners
insurance.

Other Discussions:

1) The board was informed of a customer's concern regarding his high water bill at 222 Main Rd. South due to
a leaky toilet. The board recommend contacting the homeowner and express the importance of fixing the
issue so prevent future elevated water bills.

The next meeting is scheduled for September 21, 2017 at 4:00 pm. There being no further business to 
come before the meeting, Shane Sargent made a motion to adjourn, Lauren Swalec 2•", motion passed 
unanimously and the meeting adjourned at 5:1 l p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Lauren Swalec 
Clerk 
Hampden Water District 
(Notes taken and typed by Michelle Gushue) 

HWD Board Meeting Minutes August 24, 2017 



ToTm of IUtnpden-"

RECEl\"ED 

AUG 18 2017 

Planning & Zonlng
,;

Qffif&� 

Planning Dept. Dept. 
Hampden,ME 

Ant..l: Planning Dept 

RE: Cost of Hydrant 7 Victoria Way 

Donald Ouellette, President 
0ak Knoll Village Condo Assn. 
3 Victoria Way 
H&n'1)den,ME04444 

_.. August 28 , 2017 

It is our understanding that when 0ak Knoll Village was built, the developer was 
mandated to have a hydrant placed on the personal property. As far a. we 
know, there were no speciftc guidelines or building code pertaining to this type 
of requirement at that tbne. This hydrant is located in front of condo #7 on their 
front lawn. 

The Officers of the 0ak Knoll Condominiums Association are asking the 
Hampden Water District to take over the cost of this water hydrant located on 
the property. OUr quarterly payment is $358.50, totaling to a yearly cost of 
$1434.00. This oost is now creating a hardship for the residents because their 
expenses are continuously Increasing and the majority are retired and living on 
social security. 

Our personal fire Insurance premiums are not any less, despite the close 
proximity of this hydrant because there is another hydrant less than 100 feet 
from our fnt unit. This one Is located on the comer of Route 9 and Sydney Blvd. 

The town has approximately an average of 1500 feet between each hydrant In 
the conmunily, having some residents at a mid range of 7501 from a hydrant. 
There is one hydrant allocated for many, many dwelllgs, with one exception, 
We have one hydrant for 6 buildings and easy access to another hydrant down 
the street. It is about 100 feet from our first condo and 350 feet from the last 
condo. 

Our buildings are 15 years old and costs of property maintenance/

replacements/ repairs are rising rapidly, fflJCh more then initially anticipated. 
We had a reality check last moallh vVhen we had the street and driveways 
repaved, We need to ensure that there will be enough monies for future 



expenses, therefore we are attemptb ag to minimize our expenses without raising 
the condo fees for the upcoming year. 

We do understand the Importance of the hydrant's current location to both, the 
fire departnrient and water district. Also, the Water Dlsbict has an easement on 
the Association's property and this Is not a problem for us either. 

I greatly appreciate your time and consideration to this request. The residents 
would be very grateful should you decide to take over the cost of the hydrant on 
cu property, Please feel free to contact me (7 45-4801) should you want to 
share your thoughts and/or have any questions for clariflCation. 

Sincerely, 

(J JO� 
Donald Ouellette, President 
Oak Knoll Village Condominium Association 



( 

{ 

TOWN OF HAMPDEN 
PLANNING BOARD 

MINUTES 

A special meeting of the Hampden Planning Board was called to order at 
6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, October 25, 2000, at the Hampden Municipal Building 
by Chairman, Kevin Ingram. 

Attendance: Art Childs, Beverly Woodcock, Serie Deane, Chairman, 
Kevin Ingram, Uiko Zecha, and Richard Peer. David 
Caliendo, E. Ripley Knickerbocker and Steven Holt were 
absent. 

Kevin Ingram, Chairman, called the Special Planning Board meeting to 
order at 6:00 p.m. and stated there was one item on the agenda. 

1. Final Plan Review, Group Development Review, Site Plan Review -
Dennis Whitcomb, Oak Knoll Village Subdivision, 12 Residential
Dwelling Units, 230 Western Avenue and Sidney Boulevard,
Residential B and Rural Districts

Jim Kiser represented the applicant and stated a separate site plan was 
submitted for approval, and the entire project has remained the same from what 
has been proposed. I did change the landscape plan over to the site plan and 
included additional material on it as requested. That plan will replace sheet 4 in 
the original site plan. 

The public hearing is open. Chairman Deane indicated that hearing no 
questions or comments to the application, the public hearing is closed. 

Bob Osborne stated the Site Plan appears to meet the basic lot and lot 
coverage and frontage requirements. The first item the Board needs to deal with 
on this is Group Development to rearrange the yard areas between the buildings 
in order to bring them into compliance with the ordinance. Without Group 
Development to rearrange those yard areas, they would fail because of the 
required area around each building if it were on an individual lot. The site plan 
appears to be complete with regard to submittal requirements when you combine 
this with the submittal for the subdivision plan as well. The two combined give all 
the underground utilities and so forth and it appears to be a complete submittal. 
With regards to the group development question, they have an increased road 
frontage requirement and require yards increased by 25% from the minimum 
requirement which they have done. They have not exceeded the density or the 
lot coverage that's required. They have provided this three to one ratio between 
buildings (based on the height of the buildings) by 18 feet. 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 25, 2000 
Page Two 

It appears that the group development standards are met. If the Board 
finds that they are, we could move into the standards for the overall evaluation of 
the Site Plan. 

Chairman Ingram asked the Board members if they had any questions to 
the applicant in regards to the applicability of group development? 

Uiko Zecha inquired about the lot coverage in the two zones. 

Mr. Osborne stated with regards to lot coverage, they are not counting the 
rural district. However, they don't have to set back from the rural district. They 
are not counting rural district area towards back filling up a deficit requirement for 
the overall lot coverage. They are providing 17% to 18% lot coverage and the 
ordinance allows 20%. 

Mr. Kiser stated with just the residential B District, we are right at the 20% 
with the revised building footprint that we provided on the site plan and submitted 
the last time we were here. That just counts the area in the Residential B 
District. If you count the rural in there, we are under the 20%, but we are at the 
20% with just Residential B. 

Mr. Osborne stated this district requires a side yard of 20 feet so, 
theoretically, if two of these buildings were on neighboring lots, they would be 40 
feet apart. Thus, in order for this plan to be considered acceptable, you have to 
go by the group development standards. In some instances, you may have to 
have front yard and rear yard considerations as well. Since the buildings are 
kind of turned, then you start questioning what is front yard, side yard, etc. The 
group development standards contemplate the idea that as long as the buildings 
are not placed closer than the 3 to 1 ratio (18 feet) from one another in terms of 
their height, that's the minimum standards the town would accept. 

The Board asked Mr. Kiser about any future development plans in the 
Rural District? We had some discussion of potentially in the future something 
might happen in what is currently the rural district. It may or may not happen 
right now as we are not doing anything about it. 

Before David Gould had left, we had talked about rezoning that into our 
Residential B zone because it is certified sewer which would be criteria when the 
Residential B zone was set up. In essence in proceeding with the project, we 
haven't proceeded with any rezoning with that portion in the rural zone. 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 25, 2000 
Page-Three 

The Board asked does the proximity of that building to that line on the 
rural district, going to make any difference in the future? 

If it gets rezoned as Residential B, that line goes away. 

If it doesn't, it couldn't be broken up because there is not enough land 
area for the two acres in Residential B. That is why we couldn't put a unit back 
there because the Rural Zone was not two acres in size. 

The Code Enforcement Officer made the determination that we could not 
have a unit within that rural area. 

Is there any criteria about staying beyond the boundary line between the 
Rural District? 

Mr. Osborne stated he is not aware of any instance where somebody 
would be asked to set back from a district. I would judge that any future 
subdivision would have to come back here. Every time a unit is added, the 

( subdivision plan would have to be amended. 

( 

Richard Peer asked, "We have rules on subdivisions and you can't further 
subdivide. Would that apply for this type of subdivision?" 

Richard Peer moved that the applicant does meet the group development 
standard and Art Childs seconded. The vote was unanimous 6-0. 

Chairman Ingram stated if there are no pending questions on Site Plan, 
we will go through the standards on page 31, section 4.1.7 numbers 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9, 10, 11, 12 and 13. 

Bob Osborne stated what the ordinance is asking under standard # 2 is to 
be integrated with other developments in the neighborhood. Two examples of 
local developments with their backs .to the street are Roe Village which is very 
well screened from its neighbors and thus its development pattern doesn't really 
have much impact on the neighborhood that it is in, and the other example is the 
apartment house further out on Western Avenue that is green in color and is 
turned 90 degrees to the street. By and large this is not the development pattern 
that exists in this neighborhood and it is important for the Board to consider that. 



( 

Planning Board Minutes 
October 25, 2000 
Page Four 

Beric Deane asked if the solution would be realignment of buildings or 
redesign of facades on those buildings. Mr. Osborne stated this is open for 
discussion. The Board could find that since the district contemplates a number of 
different housing types and both group development and stand alones that this 
was within the realm of what the original ordinance contemplated. 

There is a broad array of multi families and how they are oriented along 
Western Avenue and we believe that does fit within what has been developed 
along that area. 

Mr. Deane commented In the site plan there is some type of planting or 
hedge along your boundary facing Western Avenue, and where it faces Sidney 
Boulevard it will be left unscreened. 

Beverly stated it would be beneficial to at least screen the buildings 
perhaps not the entire development, along Sidney Boulevard. 

Mr. Peer said his only concern is sight distances might be affected. 

Mr. Kiser said this has been submitted as a condominium structure. 

Chairman Ingram noted that condominiums have strict rules what 
residents can do and it is maintained by the association. Uiko said it is 
interesting there is a 6 foot shadow fence. Mr. Kiser said that was a request as 
an abutter along that line and Dennis agreed to put it up for her and stop it where 
she wanted it to. 

Mr. Deane stated given the fact that it is a condominium association, I 
wouldn't think it would be a problem. It has some landscaping around the corner 
and, giving the other houses on that particular end of Sidney Boulevard, will be 
taken care of on a regular basis by the association. 

Serie Deane made a motion that the application meets the standards of 
Site Plan Review. Richard Peer seconded. The vote was unanimous 6-0. 

Under Final Plan Review, Mr. Osborne advised the Board that the fees are 
all paid. 

Art Childs moved that the subdivision ordinance meets the standards 
given in the subdivision final plan review and it was seconded by Richard Peer. 
Vote was unanimous 6/0. 



( 

Planning Board Minutes 
October 25, 2000 
Page Five 

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Serie Deane and seconded 
by Uiko Zecha. The meeting was adjourned at 6:35 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Serie Deane, Secretary 



Town of Hampden, Mlline 
Subd111lsion Ordinance 

text 12. Accompanying Data - The plans shall show the proposed location of all utilities (ie.
Water, sewer, electrical, telephone) with written letters from each respective utility
indicating their approval for the proposed design and location as shown on the plans.
Also there shall be a letter from the Fire Chief approving the number, size and location of
hydrants proposed and a letter from,the Town Manager indicating the Town's approval of
rental charges in accompanying written information. (Amended: 06-19-89)

text 13. Easements - If any easements have been required by the Planning Board, title to the
easement, drawn up in a form and substance acceptable to the town or the Hampden
Water District if applicable) shall be provided to the town (or the Hampden Water
District if applicable) by the subdivider before final approval is granted in accompanying
written information.

340. Review of Minor Subdivision

341. General - The Planning Board may require, in advance, where it deems it necessary for the
protection of public health, safety and welfare, that a minor subdivision or a minor subdivision plan
comply with all or any of the requirements specified for major subdivision or major subdivision
plans.

342. Procedure

I. Within six (6) months after classification of the sketch plan as a minor subdivision by the
Planning Board, the subdivider shall submit an application for approval of a subdivision plan.
The subdivision plan shall substantially conform to the layout shown on the sketch plan plus
any recommendations made by the Planning Board.

2. The application for approval of a minor subdivision shall be accompanied by a fee paid in
accordance with the Town of Hampden Fees Ordinance payable by check to the Town of
Hampden, Maine. (Amended 11-17..fJJJ 

3. The subdivider or his duly authorized representative shall attend the meeting of the Planning
Board to discuss the subdivision plan.

4. The time of submission of the subdivision plan shall be considered to be the date of the regular
monthly meeting of the Planning Board, at least fifteen ( 15) days prior to which the application,
complete and accompanied by the required fee has been filed with the code enforcement
officer. The Planning Board shall issue the subdivider a dated receipt for the subdivision plan
at the time of submission of the subdivision plan.

5. Fifteen (15) paper copies and two (2) transparent copies of the subdivision application,
containing all information required in section 343 of this Ordinance shall be submitted.
(Amended: 10..()5-87)

6. Within thirty (30) days from receipt of a subdivision plan, the Planning Board shall notify the
subdivider in writing either that the application is a complete application or, if the application is
incomplete, the specific additional material needed to make a complete application. After the
Planning Board has determined that a complete application has been filed it shall notify the
subdivider and begin its full evaluation of the proposed subdivision.

)5 












































	Draft Subdivision Ordinance.pdf
	subdiv ord cover
	1 - new draft subdiv toc v1
	1 - new draft subdiv ord v11




